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1. Introduction
Welcome to the NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) sixth annual
report and accounts, covering the 2018/19 financial year.
In June 2018, the National Health Service celebrated its 70th birthday. Now, more
than seven decades on, NHS Bexley CCG is proud to be part of a health service that
continues to provide care for all.
Whilst the heritage of the NHS is important, the service continually needs to adapt to
meet the changing needs of the population, and make best use of technological and
social developments.
In January 2019, The NHS Long Term Plan was published, setting out how the
organisation needs to redesign patient care for the decade ahead. This focuses on
ensuring we have a service model which gives patients more options, better support,
and properly joined-up care at the right time in the optimal care setting.
In Bexley, the local authority have recently refreshed their Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment, which considers the “big picture” in terms of health and wellbeing
needs for the local population in order to inform future service planning. Both of
these key documents identify poor health and inequality as a critical area that needs
to be addressed in any future plans, refocusing the provision of health and social
care services on prevention and wellbeing.
For NHS Bexley CCG, these strategic documents have helped to inform several
exciting projects in the year, including:







A falls management programme – aimed at working with local care homes and
partner agencies to reduce falls and the subsequent need for admission to
secondary care
Referral optimisation – working with GP practices to reduce variation and
ensure the right care pathway for patient is determined effectively and efficiently
Focus on mental health services – to increase awareness of the services
available and improve general mental health and wellbeing
Development of internal commissioning capabilities – to inform the
development of CCG corporate objectives and strategy
Development of community services – such as a new service for assessment
and treatment of minor eye conditions and a self-help app for COPD patient
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Innovative application of personal health budgets – to ensure the benefits of
the flexibility and patient empowerment that personal health budgets offer are
delivered to a wide patient base

Partnership working has been an invaluable part of our activities this year, and the
NHS Long Term Plan underlines the increasing importance of all local health
providers working as one collaborative system to provide a service which is wrapped
around the patient. A very practical example of this is the joint management
arrangements which are now in place between Bexley and Greenwich CCGs, with
one managing director providing strategic leadership across both organisations.
At a broader level, NHS Bexley CCG is actively engaged in the work carried out at
south east London level and led by the South East London Commissioning Alliance.
This includes working with our local CCG partners to monitor performance at a
system level, acknowledging the benefits and impact of a collective approach to
addressing critical issues.
Close collaboration with colleagues from London Borough of Bexley to ensure
residents in the borough enjoy joined-up health and social care provision continues
at pace, with local authority representatives welcomed as members of the CCG’s
governing body, and an integrated commissioning team which works across both
organisations.
As plans for local healthcare continue to evolve, the CCG will continue to work in
partnership with GP practices, patient groups, the GP federation, partner
organisations and the local authority to ensure the decisions we make are for the
benefit of the local residents of Bexley.

Dr Sid Deshmukh
Chair, NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group
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2. Performance summary
2.1 About NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is responsible for planning,
commissioning and monitoring healthcare services for the residents of Bexley. These
services include: planned care; urgent and emergency care; rehabilitation care;
community health services; mental health and learning disability services.
Member practices
In 2018/19 the CCG consisted of 24 GP practices in Bexley (this reduced to 23
practices in April 2019 as Cairngall practice was closed), spread across three
localities which are led by locally-elected GP leads and practice representatives.

North Bexley
Belvedere Medical Centre
Bexley Medical Group
Bulbanks Medical Centre
Cairngall Medical Practice
Crayford Town Surgery
Riverside Medical
Lakeside Medical Practice
Lyndhurst Medical Practice
Northumberland Heath Medical
Practice
Slade Green Medical Centre

Frognal
Plas Meddyg Surgery
Sidcup Medical Centre
Station Road Surgery

Barnard Medical Group
Woodlands Surgery

Clocktower
Albion Surgery
Bellegrove Road Surgery
Bexley Group Practice
Bursted Wood Surgery
Crook Log Surgery
Ingleton Avenue Surgery
Dr Thavapalan & Partners
Welling Medical Practice
Westwood Surgery

As a clinically-led organisation, doctors and other clinicians are directly involved in
the development of, and making decisions about, healthcare services in Bexley.
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Decisions are made by a
governing body, predominantly
comprised of clinicians (elected
Bexley GPs together with a nurse
and
a
hospital
doctor).

The CCG Governing Body
Accountable
officer
GPs and
practice reps

Secondary
care doctor
and GB Nurse

Lay members

Governing
Body
Patient
representative

local authority
reps

Directors

The governing body also includes
practice
managers,
CCG
directors,
local
authority
representatives and members of
the public (called lay members),
who give their views and input
from a patient and public
perspective.
More information about the CCG’s
governing body can be found
further into the report.

The CCG is led by the CCG Chair, Dr Sid Deshmukh, who is a local GP. The Chair
works in close collaboration with the CCG’s accountable officer, Andrew Bland, to
set the strategic direction of the CCG and maintain oversight of the CCG’s delivery of
its organisational objectives.
1. To improve the quality & safety of commissioned services to meet the health and wellbeing needs
of the Bexley population, whilst reducing health inequalities and upholding NHS constitutional
standards
2. To achieve in-year financial balance and improve the long-term financial sustainability of the CCG.
To realise this within the context of the south east London CCGs’ system control total and in a way
that optimises the delivery of the CCG’s statutory financial duties.
3. To develop robust commissioning and provider alliances by working with stakeholders to develop
and deliver integrated care for Bexley residents, placing the patient at the centre of service
provision.
4. To deliver the objectives and strategic aims of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for south
east London as a member of the Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) – the STP
5. To increase the involvement and visibility of patients and local people, including from diverse
groups, in the decision-making processes of the CCG including the co-design / co-production and
commissioning of local services.
6. To demonstrate a measurable increase in clinical leadership to drive greater involvement of both
member practices and system partners in commissioning decisions.
7. To strengthen effective governance within the organisation and across partnerships
8. To develop and align the organisational structure, workforce capacity and capabilities to deliver
the CCG’s corporate objectives and the objectives of the STP.
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Operationally, the CCG is led by a managing director, which from February 2019 is a
joint role across both NHS Bexley and NHS Greenwich CCG’s. The managing
director is supported by six directors who lead respectively on:
o
o
o
o
o
o

governance, quality and performance
finance and procurement,
primary care,
integrated commissioning with the local authority,
planned and unplanned care (joint appointment with Greenwich CCG)
commissioning development (joint appointment with Greenwich CCG)

The CCG works in close collaboration with colleagues from London Borough of
Bexley to ensure residents in the borough enjoy joined-up health and social care
provision. This is enhanced by the appointment of a director of integrated
commissioning, who has responsibilities spanning across both the CCG and local
authority.
The CCG’s vision and corporate engagement
The CCG also works in close partnership with a
number of other organisations to commission
services e.g. NHS providers, Healthwatch
Bexley, voluntary sector organisations, patient
and community groups and other CCGs.
The CCG’s vision is for Bexley’s residents to stay
in better health for longer, with the support of
good quality, integrated care as close to home as
possible, and supported by accessible, safe and
expert hospital services when they are needed.
The organisation’s corporate objectives are
supported by its five values, aimed at supporting
a continuous cycle of improvement with the
needs of people at its centre.
Engagement with staff and the public is key to delivering these objectives, and the
CCG encourages engagement in its decision making at a number of levels. The
2018/19 staff survey achieved an unprecedented 97% response rate, the highest in
the UK again, and the CCG has a number of fora which offer the residents of Bexley
the opportunity to take part in the development of local services, including the Bexley
patient council, the mystery shopper scheme, and public attendance at the CCG’s
governing body meetings and its primary care commissioning committee.
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2.2 The Bexley population
Population profile
The Office of National Statistics has estimated the mid-2017 population of Bexley as
246,1241. This is predicted to increase to around 300,000 by 2040. In addition, the
number of people aged over 75 years is expected to almost double by 2050. This will
create significant pressure on the local health system and the CCG is working
together with the local authority to plan for these changes.
The higher population densities are in the north of the borough, with noticeable
health and social inequalities between the north and south of Bexley. Although
overall Bexley is ranked as the eighth least deprived borough in London, there are
clear pockets of deprivation within its communities, and this diversity within the
borough means both the CCG and local authority health and social care team face a
challenging environment in the delivery of health and social care services.
The health of the borough
The London Borough of Bexley Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018 (JSNA
2018) showed Bexley as rated the nineteenth best borough (of 32) for life
expectancy at birth.
Key data on the health of the borough is shown below:

1

https://www.bexley.gov.uk/services/council/bexley-facts-and-figures/who-lives-bexley/bexleys-population
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One of the main challenges for the CCG is how to address the prevalence of long
term conditions and obesity for the population of the borough.
Bexley JSNA 2018 data indicates that for older people for the period 2014 to 2016,
199 per 100,000 deaths in the borough were as a result of avoidable causes. The
JSNA 2018 ranks Bexley at 28th out of 32 London boroughs for poor sickness
absence, and despite having 623 hectares of open space in the borough, it is also
ranked 28th for utilisation of public open space for exercise and health reasons.
Working collaboratively with the local authority to encourage residents to adopt a
healthier lifestyle, the CCG intends to address the causes of poor health at an early
stage wherever possible, reducing the impact on health services resulting from poor
health and lifestyle choices. This approach is illustrated in the system-wide
Prevention Strategy created by the Local Authority jointly with partners and
stakeholders including the CCG, and developed through public consultation, which
seeks to not only emphasise the benefits of proactive action to improve and maintain
a healthy lifestyle but also addresses the causes behind the causes of ill-health and
inequalities.
Overarching Priority Creating a culture and fostering behaviours where person centred care planning and a whole person
approach becomes the norm, particularly to support people with vulnerable characteristics and those who may experience
discrimination because of protected characteristics.

PEOPLE

Theme 1: Healthy Children

Theme 2: Healthy Adults

Priority 1.1. Supporting parents to become the best
parents they can be
Priority 1.2. Helping children to a flying start in life to
develop, thrive and achieve
Priority 1.3. Supporting school-aged children to achieve
their fullest potential

Priority 2.1. Creating an environment where people can be
healthy and well, make decisions about their future, and engage in
meaningful life roles in the community at all stages
Priority 2.2. Supporting people through key life changes and
events

POLICIES &
PRACTICES

Theme 3: Healthy Policies and Practices
Priority 3.1. Making Every Contact throughout the Bexley system and embedding Health in All Policies
Priority 3.2. Ensuring that all commissioning practices, use of intelligence and technologies, and resource allocations are
optimised and evidence-based
Priority 3.3. Embedding prevention into Bexley’s population health approach

PLACES

Theme 4: Healthy Communities,
Workplaces and Homes

Theme 5: Healthy Environment: Built,
Green and Blue

Priority 4.1. Supporting communities
to be connected, healthy, happy and
safe so that everybody can start, live
and age well

Priority 5.1. Making it easier for people to
adopt active and heathier lifestyles and
take responsibility to ensure this for
themselves and their families

Priority 4.2. Creating a supportive
culture that promotes good physical
and mental wellbeing in the workplace

Priority 5.2. Creating a built environment
that facilitates and supports socially active
and successful communities through
design based planning

Priority 4.3. 4.3. Using all tools and
levers available to increase the quality
and quantity of new and existing
affordable homes to meet local need.
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and Thriving Local Economy

Priority 6.1. Improving pathways to
skills and employment helping people
move on to better paying jobs
Priority 6.2. Creation of quality
employment areas in our town centres
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Priority 5.3. Making Bexley
environmentally sustainable and healthy
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2.3 Influences on the delivery of NHS Bexley CCG
objectives
A number of events in the year have influenced the CCG’s activities, including:

Unplanned
activity

Technology

Stroke review

Influences
on the
CCG
Organisational
development

GP
recruitment

Partnership
working

Influences on Bexley CCG in the year

GP recruitment
NHS Bexley CCG recognises the
benefits of recruiting new GPs
into practices within its footprint,
and has joined together with
local CCGs to bid for interest
from a cohort of international
GPs who are visiting London
through
an
international
programme arranged nationally.
In addition, the CCG is
participating in a wider STP
piece of work to secure primary
care resilience and ensure south
east London practices are able to
maintain GP cover as long
established GPs retire or step
back from practice.

Emphasis on partnership working
The CCG has actively engaged in various projects in the year to encourage joint
working with provider, partner and peer organisations, recognising the benefits to
both the CCG and Bexley residents in this collaborative approach.






Development of Local Care Networks (LCNs) – led by a local GP, the
three LCNs are vehicles for developing good multi-agency partnerships within
each locality. One of the key initiatives introduced as a result have been
Integrated Case Management meetings, using a multi-disciplinary team to
manage complex patients at risk of deterioration. This arrangement has been
described as the “jewel in the crown” of the LCN delivery.
Progress in developing the Local Care Partnership (LCP) – operating at a
borough level, the LCP was formed from all the provider and commissioning
organisations involved in service provision within Bexley.
South east London CCG collaboration – building on the creation of the
South East London Commissioning Alliance, formed of the six CCGs within
south east London, with five led by NHS Bexley CCG’s accountable officer,
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Andrew Bland, the CCGs within the alliance are working closely together to
identify efficiency savings and shared best practice, and to work with provider
Trusts to develop services which meet the population’s needs within the
context of the CCGs’ financial sustainability. This is embedded in the Our
Healthier South East London partnership which runs a full programme of
groups to support all areas of commissioned services.
Integrated working with London Borough of Bexley – as the local
authority has responsibility for health and social care provision within the
borough, it is vital that the CCG and London Borough of Bexley work in close
collaboration. This is reflected in the appointment of two local authority
representatives to the CCG’s governing body, and the operation of an
integrated commissioning unit which works across both organisations and is
headed up by a single Director of Integrated Commissioning.

Kent and Medway stroke review
The CCGs in Kent and Medway, together with NHS Bexley CCG and Lewes and
High Weald CCG, ran a public consultation on the future of urgent stroke services in
Kent and Medway in early 2018. The outcome of this consultation was to identify
three sites for 24/7 hyper-acute stroke units within the area. This is important
because one of the sites agreed is Darent Valley Hospital, which is a major provider
of health services for Bexley residents.
Unplanned activity
The CCG is in an unusual position as Bexley is one of only a handful of London
boroughs which do not have an acute hospital providing emergency department (ED)
services in their footprint. For Bexley residents, ED services are provided in
neighbouring boroughs, primarily at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust sites or at
Darent Valley hospital. Within the borough, the CCG commissions the provision of
two Urgent Care Centres (at Erith Hospital and Queen Marys Hospital, Sidcup) and
continues to support the operation of 8-8 GP hubs to provide out of hours GP
services. Combined with the use of NHS 111 telephone support, these services are
aimed at reducing pressure on local emergency departments. All the services are
facing high volumes of patients attending for treatment. On-going work is underway
to address the complexities of helping patients to use the correct service for their
need, and avoid unnecessary visits to Urgent or Emergency Care facilities.
Use of technology
Following the successful roll out of the NHS Online Bexley app last year to provide
registered Bexley patients with the ability to interact with their GP online, the CCG
has continued to support the use of technology within the health service as part of
the wider national strategy to transform health and social care. Work is on-going to
consider how technology can be used to share information across health providers,
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provide the means for GPs to obtain specialist support for patients, and increase the
options available to residents to seek health advice and guidance. Wi-Fi facilities
have also been introduced in all Bexley practices for the benefit of patients.
Organisational development
Building on the development work undertaken by the CCG last year to determine its
new vision and values, the organisation has continued to review its operation for
efficiency and effectiveness, to maximise the potential of its workforce and to
develop a strategy which is fit to meet the future challenges of the health system.
The CCG has developed much stronger ties with NHS Greenwich CCG in the year,
with the implementation of a shared management structure between the two
organisations in early 2019 to enable both CCGs to benefit from greater partnership
working.
The NHS Long Term Plan
The NHS Long Term Plan was published in January 2019 and lays out the
Government’s plan for the next decade. It considers how the NHS will accelerate the
redesign of patient care to future-proof the NHS for the coming decade and ensure it
can make its funding go as far as possible. This includes plans to maximise the
potential from technology, address the workforce pressures in place and create a
new service model to ensure delivery of health services are centred around the
patient and delivered in a joined up way in an optimal care setting. The Long Term
Plan can be accessed at www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/.

2.4 Key issues and risks
The CCG works in a challenging environment which presents a number of key risks
to the delivery of its objectives. The CCG has maintained a strong focus on
mitigating the impact of these risks whilst ensuring quality is maintained and patient
needs are met. In summary, the challenges are:
o A financially challenging environment, driven by increased activity particularly
in our acute providers
o Impact on the achievement of constitutional and national targets as a
consequence of increasing activity
o Delivery of best value whilst securing high quality services
o External factors which impact on the CCGs performance, and which the CCG
is working together with partner organisations to address
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o Health inequalities within the borough, requiring a dynamic, patient-centred
response
o Impact of the UK’s exit from the European Union on the continuity of
“business as usual” operations for the CCG and by its providers
For 2018/19, a strong focus has been placed on working as a system within south
east London to address the challenges. This has resulted in greater emphasis on
cross-CCG working groups, risk share arrangements and joint committees to tackle
issues that are best addressed at an SEL level. At an operational level, risk
management is taken very seriously within the CCG, with an emphasis on the use of
the risk register to identify areas of focus and to direct strategic development and
decision-making.

2.5 Performance highlights
NHS Bexley CCG activity is informed by national and local objectives and the CCG’s
performance is measured a number of ways, including:






against delivery of Constitutional standards
by use of a national applied and recognised set of indicators set out in the
Improvement and Assessment Framework (IAF), which is reported to and
monitored by NHS England
by feedback from stakeholders
by NHS England performance assessments

A summary of the CCG’s performance delivery is provided in this section, with more
information on the indicators included in the Performance Analysis section of this
report, together with additional discussion on the work the CCG has undertaken this
past year to maximise performance.
Performance against constitutional and other standards
Like many CCGs in the capital, of particular importance is the CCG’s performance in
relation to constitutional standards set out in the NHS constitution, performance
against these standards is included in the table below.
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Key performance statistics (for achievement of both IAF and Constitutional
standards) are reported in the table below (where available):

People with urgent GP referral have first definitive
treatment of cancer within 62 days of referral (122b)

National
target

CCG
outcome

85.0%

77.47%

Latest
period
available
Feb 2019

93.0%

95.84%

Feb 2019

96.0%

98.72%

Feb 2019

95.0%

83.6%

Mar 2019

92.0%

81.22%

Feb 2019

7 mins

6.37

Feb 2019

0

54

Feb 2019

1.0%

3.99%

Feb 2019

4.2% in
Q4

3.68%

Q3 18/19

50.0%

50.6%

Q3 18/19

67.0%

67.6%

Feb 2019

0

3

Feb 2019

45

28

Feb 2019

0

116

Feb 2019
YTD

Proportion of total number of patients urgently referred for
cancer treatment.

People with suspected cancer referrals seen within
two weeks of referral
Percentage of people referred for suspected cancer who
receive assessment within 2 weeks

People diagnosed with cancer who receive
treatment within 31 days
Percentage of people diagnosed with cancer whose
treatment starts within 31 days

Percentage of patients admitted, transferred or
discharged from A&E within 4 hours (127c)
Percentage of total patients attending A&E who are admitted,
transferred or discharged within 4 hours

Patients waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to
hospital treatment. (129a)
Percentage of total patients awaiting hospital treatment postreferral for 18 weeks or less.

London Ambulance Service response times
Average response time for Category A (Red 1) (life
threatening) ambulance calls

Referral to treatment 52 week waits
The number of patients referred for treatment who have
waited longer than 52 weeks.

Patients waiting 6 weeks or more for diagnostic
tests
Percentage of total patients requiring diagnostic tests who
have waited for 6 weeks or more

People entering psychological therapies (123b)
Percentage of people estimated to have depression or
anxiety who entered psychological therapy

IAPT recovery rate (123a)
Percentage of people reaching recovery after psychological
therapy

Dementia diagnosis rate (126a)
Percentage of people diagnosed with dementia based on
estimated prevalence

MRSA reported infections
Number of incidences of MRSA healthcare associated
infection

C. Difficile reported infections
Number of incidences of C. Difficile healthcare associated
infection

Mixed Sex accommodation
Number of breaches of mixed sex accommodation
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Financial performance
In terms of financial performance, CCGs have to meet the same statutory and
financial duties as demonstrated in the graphic below:

Cash within
specified
limit

Capital
spend within
budget

Admin costs
within NHSE
target

Statutory
financial
duties

Spend
within
budget

95% of
invoices
paid in 30
days

CCG achievement of financial duties Green circles are duties achieved,
red circles are where duties have not been achieved

 To ensure expenditure in a
financial year does not exceed
the allocated budget
 To ensure that the CCG’s spend
on administrative costs (that is,
costs not relating to healthcare
services) does not exceed an
amount specified by NHS
England
 To achieve payment of 95% of
its invoices within 30 days of
receipt
 To ensure capital expenditure in
a financial year does not exceed
the allocated budget
 To ensure the CCG’s cash
payments remain within the
cash limit specified by NHS
England

In 2018/19, the CCG posted a year end deficit position (an excess of expenditure
over income for the year) of £9,940,000, resulting in a breach to the statutory
breakeven in 2018/19 – this has been the forecast position being reported to NHS
England for many months and so was not unexpected. This is the second year that
the CCG has breached a statutory financial duty despite receiving mutual support for
other south east London CCGs. This means that the CCG will now have a
cumulative deficit position of £14,805,000.
Expenditure can be analysed as follows:
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Employee benefits including governing
body members, chair & lay members

1.40%
0.59%

8.58%

8.05%

Services from other NHS trusts

35.32%

Supplies and services – clinical & general
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS
bodies

32.35%

Other expenditure (including consultancy
& Audit fees)

12.86%
0.22%

Premises, Transport & Establishment
Services from foundation trusts

0.15%
0.48%

Further detail on the CCGs financial performance is included the Performance
Analysis section of this report, in section 3.3.5.
360 degree stakeholder survey
NHS Bexley CCG has received encouraging responses in the 2018/19 survey, which
generated an overall response rate of 85%, an increase of 14 percentage points
from last year. The CCG is pleased to report that 96% of participants in the survey
were complimentary about the CCGs overall engagement, reporting its effectiveness
in developing a working relationship with its partners as either “very good” or “fairly
good”. The results indicated that the CCG is considered to be making good progress
on delivering local health services and considering the health outcomes of the
borough, but needs to work harder on how it involves the voluntary sector in its
planning, and promoting collaborative approaches with partners to resolve problems.
Staff survey
The CCG elected to participate in the annual NHS staff survey for 2018/19, and it
was pleasing to note that the CCG achieved a participation rate of 97%, which was
the highest level of participation for any NHS organisation in the UK and a further
improvement on an engagement rate in excess of 90% in the previous year.
Improvements in the year were noted in areas such as provision of equipment and
materials, and completion of development reviews. Development areas for the year
include improving staff empowerment, considering how to improve flexible working
arrangements, and staff health and wellbeing.
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Engaging people and communities in Bexley
Highlights of the year
NHS Bexley CCG has worked closely with members of the Bexley Patient Council
to ensure local views and opinions are listened to and taken into account. This year
the Patient Council has shared their views on Urgent Care provision in Erith and
taken part in workshops to learn more about the NHS. The Bexley Patient Council
has also been instrumental in promoting the equality agenda by working with NHS
Bexley CCG to ensure our documents and polices are accessible to all.
The Patient Participation
Group (PPG) network
provides invaluable insight
into patient experience of
primary care. PPGs plays an
important role in supporting
communication between
patients and NHS Bexley
CCG and we regularly take
part in PPG meetings. The
CCG is committed to
supporting PPGs and in 2018
commissioned Healthwatch to
undertake an audit of all
PPGs in Bexley. The findings
of this audit form part of the
CCG’s action plan to support
and develop PPGs in Bexley.
NHS Bexley CCG recognises that working in partnership with the Council and
community organisations is fundamental to maximise and extend our engagement
into the community. The CCG regularly attend partnership meetings and forums
within the community and this helps NHS Bexley CCG to deliver health messages
that are consistent across the borough. Our partners include Healthwatch, Bexley
Voluntary Service Council (BVSC), Peabody, Public Health, Community Partnerships
team and Bexley Inter-Faith forum.
The CCG’s Community outreach programme recognises the importance of
reaching out to people in our community, rather than expecting them to come to us,
and ask them how they want to be involved. This approach is significant to avoid
assumptions about people’s experiences, needs, views and wishes.
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Meeting people in their natural environment is the only way to identify needs and
experiences that may not be communicated through the spoken word. This is
particularly important when engaging with communities at greater risk of health
inequalities and who may experience barriers to access in health care. This year, the
CCG has engaged with a wide range of seldom heard groups including Bexley
Mencap, Bexley deaf centre, Asian women’s group, Sikh temple, Bexley Voice and
many more.
In March 2019, the CCG launched its
‘Pathways to leadership’ mentoring
programme. The mentoring programme is a
six month pilot project that recognises that
people who want to participate in their local
NHS and community may need support and
help in developing the right skills, tools and
confidence to do so. Five people are part of
the pilot and will take part in the monthly
action learning sets.
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3: Performance analysis
This section of the annual report and accounts provides more details about the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance during 2018/19. It describes how
performance is measured, and highlights some of the activities undertaken and
achievements recognised in the year to deliver these outcomes. It also sets out the
key risks for the organisation and describes actions being undertaken to mitigate
them.

3.1 How performance is measured using the
Improvement and Assessment Framework
In March 2016, NHS England introduced the CCG Improvement and Assessment
Framework (IAF) which replaced both the existing CCG assurance framework and
CCG performance dashboard, and was designed to provide a greater focus on
assisting improvement, alongside its statutory assessment function.
The IAF aligns with NHS England’s mandate and planning guidance, with the aim of
unlocking change and improvement in a number of key areas. This approach aims to
reach beyond CCGs, enabling local health systems and communities to assess their
own progress from ratings published online.
The framework is a focal point for joint work and support between NHS England and
CCGs. It draws together the NHS Constitution, performance and finance metrics
and transformational challenges and plays an important part in the delivery of the
Five Year Forward View. Each year, the indicators used to measure performance are
reviewed and amended as appropriate. For 2018/19, a suite of 58 measures have
been used. Performance data is gathered from across the system and made
available via the My NHS website, which enables professionals and the public to
easily compare the performance of health and care services over a range of
measures.
The framework has four key domains and focuses on six clinical priorities: mental
health, cancer, dementia, diabetes, learning disabilities and maternity. The four
domains are:
1. Better health: how the CCG is contributing towards improving the health and
wellbeing of its population
2. Better care: principally focuses on care redesign, performance of
constitutional standards, and outcomes, including in important clinical areas
3. Sustainability: considering financial balance, and securing good value for
patients and the public
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4. Leadership: the quality of the CCG’s leadership, the quality of its plans, how
the CCG works with its partners, and the governance arrangements that the
CCG has in place to ensure it acts with probity, for example in managing
conflicts of interest
The diagram below summarises the framework:

The table below details the performance statistics for the organisation based on
latest data available in April 2019. The data comes from a number of sources from
varying time periods.
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3.2 Performance of the services NHS Bexley CCG
commissions

103b

104a

105b
106a

Percentage of 10-11 year olds classified as
overweight
Diabetes patients who have achieved all the
NICE-recommended treatments
People with diabetes who have attended a
structured education session less than a year
from diagnosis
Number of emergency admissions of people
aged 65+ injured in falls per 100,000 of the CCG
population
Number of personal health budgets per 100,000
of the CCG population
Measure of inequality in unplanned
hospitalisation for chronic conditions

National target

Movement to
last year

103a

Description

Performance
(per Apr 19
dashboard)

102a

Date of latest
data

Indicator

Domain

NHS Bexley CCG’s performance is detailed below in relation to the four key
domains.

2014/152016/17
2017/18

38.2%



44.9%



2017/18

16.0%



Q3
2018/19

2,056



281



Q4
2018/19
Q2
2018/19

167 by
Q3
-

2,009



Dec
2018

0.965

1.104



Dec
2018

<10.0%

9.83%



2018

-

0.60



Q3
2018/19
Dec
2018
No data

Green

Red



80%

99.5%



Q3
2018/19

Fully
compliant

Fully
compliant



2017

n/a

3.79



0.17



(The difference in number of admissions per 100,000
of population between the least and most deprived
areas of the CCG footprint)

Better Health

107a

(comparison of the antibiotic prescribing in the CCG
area compared to the national dataset)

107b

Sustainability

Appropriate prescribing of broad spectrum
antibiotics
(the amount of generic antibiotics prescribed by CCG
GPs as a percentage of total antibiotics issued)

108a
141b
144a
145a

Proportion of carers with a long term condition
who feel supported to manage their condition
Assessment of in year financial performance
Use of the NHS e-referral service to enable
choice at first routine elective referral
Expenditure in areas with identified scope for
improvement



(percentage point difference in growth for the areas
the CCG has identified for improvement against CCGs
not prioritising those areas for improvement)

162a
Leadership

Appropriate prescribing of antibiotics in primary
care

Probity and corporate governance
(assessment of compliance with NHS England
conflicts of interest guidance)

163a

Provider staff engagement index
(average engagement score for providers within the
CCG footprint)

163b
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(weighted average percentage of provider staff who
believe their Trust offers equal career opportunities)

164a

Effectiveness of working relationships in the
local system

2017/18

79.37



(Percentage of 360 stakeholder survey answers of
“very” or “fairly good” for working relationships, scored
0-100)

166a

Compliance with statutory guidance on patient
and public participation in commissioning

2017

Green

Green



Q3
2018/19

Green

Amber



Q3
2018/19
Q3
2018/19

-

61



-

66



Q3
2018/19
2016

-

62



-

55.5%



Q3
2018/19

85.0%

73.4%




2016

-

72.0%



2017

7.98

8.9



Q3
2018/19

50.0%

50.6%



Q3
2018/19

4.2%

3.68%



Feb
2019

50.0%

82.6%



32%

No data



168



-

-



Compliant

Compliant



(360 stakeholder survey views on CCG as a system
leader and working relationships, scored 0-100)

165a

Quality of CCG leadership
(NHS England assessment of performance in
leadership capability and capacity, quality,
governance and transformation leadership)

121a

Provision of high quality care in hospital
(CQC score between 0 and 100)

121b

Provision of high quality primary medical
services
(CQC score between 0 and 100)

121c

Provision of high quality adult social care
(CQC score between 0 and 100)

122a

122b

122c
122d

Cancers diagnosed at stage 1 or 2 as a
proportion of total new cases of cancer
diagnosed
Proportion of people urgently referred for cancer
treatment who receive their first treatment within
62 days
Percentage of total number of adults diagnosed
with any type of cancer who survive over a year
Average rating of cancer patient experience
(scored between 0 and 10)

123a

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies –
recovery
(percentage of patients classed as recovered after
treatment)

123b

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies –
access
(percentage of people with depression or anxiety
disorders who enter treatment)

123c

EIP 2 week referral
(percentage of patients with first episode psychosis or
at risk mental state who start care within 2 weeks)

123d

123f
123e

Percentage of children and young people under
18 with a diagnosable mental health condition
who are receiving treatment from NHS funded
community services
Mental health out of area placements
(number currently in place)
Mental health crisis team provision

Q3
2018/19
No data

(percentage of crisis resolution and home treatment
services able to meet selected core functions)

Better Care

123g

123h

123i
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mental illness registers receiving physical health
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Percentage of people with severe mental illness
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123j

124a
124b

124c
125d
125a
125b

least equal (green indicator) other programme
spend.
Quality of mental health data submitted to NHS
Digital

2018/19

Measure of reliance on specialist inpatient care
for people with a learning disability and/or autism
Percentage of total number of people on the GP
Learning disability register receiving an annual
healthcheck
Percentage of people on a GP learning disability
register (as a percentage of total list size)
Percentage of women known to be smokers at
the time of giving birth
Number of stillbirths and neonatal deaths per
1,000 births
Womens experience of maternity services

Q3
2018/19
2017/18

0.78



-

61



-

45.2%



2017/18

-

0.37%



Q3
2018/19
2016

<11%

7.76%



-

5.6



2018

-

81.0



2018

-

65.1



Feb
2019

66.7%

67.6%



2016-17

-

75.13%



Q2
2018/19
March
2019

-

2,210



95.0%

83.6%



Feb
2019

<7.3

5.9



Q2
2018-19
2017

-

546.0



-

6.29%



2018

-

80.1%



Feb
2019

100.0%

100.0%



Sept
2018

-

0.79



Q3
2018/19

Green

Red



Feb
2019
2016-17

92.0%

81.2%



-

2



Q3

<15%

18.5%



Q2
2018/19

(scored between 0 and 100)

125c

Choices offered in maternity services
(scored between 0 and 100)

126a

126b

127b
127c

127e

Percentage of people on a Bexley GP practice
dementia register of the total estimated people
with dementia in the CCG area
Percentage of patients with a face-to-face care
plan in the last 12 months of the total on a
Bexley GP practice dementia register
Emergency admissions for urgent care sensitive
conditions (rate per 100,000 registered patients)
Percentage of patients who attended A&E in the
CCG area who were admitted, transferred or
discharged within 4 hours
Delayed transfers of care attributable to the NHS
(average number of days delay per 100,000 of the
population)

127f
105c

Average length of bed stay following emergency
admission (per 100,000 of the population)
Number of people who had 3 or more
emergency admissions within 90 days prior to
death
(as a percentage of total deaths registered in the year)

128b

Patient experience of GP services
(Percentage of patients describing their experience as
“fairly good” or “very good”)

128c

Primary Care Access
(percentage of the registered population offered full
extended primary care access)

128d

Primary Care workforce
(number of GPs, nurses and direct patient care staff in
primary care per 1,000 of the population)

128e

129a
130a

131a
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Assessment of CCG investment in primary care
transformation in line with Five Year Forward
View
Patients waiting 18 weeks or less from referral to
hospital treatment
Average percentage achievement of the 4
clinical standards that have the most impact on
reducing risk of weekend mortality
Percentage of total NHS continuing healthcare
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132a
133a

full assessments taking place in the CCG area
that were carried out in an acute hospital setting
Prioritisation of sepsis awareness training
amongst healthcare professionals
Number of patients waiting six weeks or more for
a diagnostic test as a percentage of total number
of patients awaiting a diagnostic test

2018/19
2017

Green

Amber



Feb
2019

<1%

3.99%



3.3 What NHS Bexley CCG is doing to deliver on its
performance targets
The following sections provide some illustrations of the activities and innovations the
CCG has worked on in the year to ensure the residents of Bexley receive the
standards of care they should expect. Although this is based around each IAF
domain, the work underway has wider reaching impacts on all the CCG’s
performance measures.

3.3.1 Better health
Red bags scheme
NHS Bexley CCG is one of 11 London CCGs to support the implementation of the
“red bag scheme”, which is designed to make emergency hospital visits safer for
care home residents. The Red Bags clearly identify a patient as being a care home
resident and provide hospital staff with the information they need to speed up clinical
decisions. The Red Bag contains general health information on the patient, including
information on any existing medical conditions and medication being taken, together
with personal belongings. The tangible outcome is that patients can often be
discharged sooner which is better both for the patient and for the NHS.
Obesity strategy
The Bexley Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2018 identifies Bexley as the
borough with the highest percentage of adults with excess weight among London
local authorities (64.6%) and the second highest prevalence of excess weight in
children attending Reception Year (26.7%). Increasing levels of excess weight lead
to an increased burden of avoidable ill health and conditions which have long term
implications on the health and social care system. The CCG is supporting the local
authority to develop an obesity strategy, which focuses on place-based interventions
to encourage residents to live healthy lifestyles and adopt weight management
interventions where necessary. These include both prevention and treatment
activities.
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Diabetes
One of the consequences of obesity is the increased prevalence of diabetes in the
population. NHS Bexley CCG was pleased to note that it maintained its rating of
“outstanding” for its diabetes services in the latest IAF clinical panel assessment
ratings published in January 2019, achieving higher rates of attendance than the
national average on structured education courses for newly diagnosed diabetes
patients, and the highest percentage of diabetes patients receiving the
recommended treatment targets in south east London.
Falls management
Having identified that Bexley have a high proportion of patients admitted to
secondary care with a primary diagnosis of a fall or tendency to fall, the CCG
appointed a falls prevention trainer in January 2018 to work with local care homes
and partner agencies to offer falls and fracture prevention interventions for adults in
the community in Bexley aged 65 and over. As a consequence of the improvements
delivered, the CCG extended funding for this role for the full 2018/19 year.
Since April 2018, the FINCH falls prevention training programme has continued to
grow the Skills and Understanding of Nurses and Carers to reduce the amount of
falls incidents that occur in Bexley Care Homes.
To date, the programme has
trained over 500 care staff around
the borough (roughly 55%). Falls
across the 19 older peoples care
homes have decreased on average
by 35% (London Ambulance
Service falls data, February 2019),
with the three care homes
performing the worst for falls,
reducing incidents by 43%.
Referral optimisation
In a bid to reduce health inequality across the CCG footprint, teams from across the
CCG have engaged with GP practices to reduce variation and ensure the right care
is provided in the right place at the right time, first time. Innovations include:
 Consultant Connect, a service which enables GPs to obtain telephone advice
from consultants across a varied portfolio of specialities to assist in supporting
primary care clinical decision making where appropriate
 an online referencing service to support GPs in identification of illnesses, and
 a review of secondary care pathways, to provide clear information on clinical
pathways to support the patient journey.
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This approach is intended to ensure that the patient remains at the centre of any
decisions, and that the chosen treatment route best meets the patient’s needs.
Community Connect
Community Connect is Bexley’s social prescribing service and has operated across
the borough since 2017. Social prescribing is a way of supporting patients with nonmedical help for issues that are causing ill health. Social prescribing is a key
element of NHS plans for supporting patients and as such has gained national
recognition in recent months. It is a means of allowing GPs direct and uncomplicated
access to the myriad services available in the voluntary sector that can support
patients to maintain healthy lives at home. Bexley’s service was a pioneer and
learning from Community Connect has contributed to the London strategy for social
prescribing.
Community Connect is commissioned through the voluntary sector and the service is
run by Bexley Voluntary Service Council (BVSC) and MIND in Bexley. Referrals to
the service come from GPs and GP practice staff, from volunteers recruited and
trained for the programme, from the London Fire Brigade, and from London Borough
of Bexley. Patients are met by a Community Wellbeing Coordinator (CWC) to
discuss what support is available and how they can get involved with voluntary
sector organisations, community groups, leisure services, and other community
events that would be of benefit to them in maintaining their health and wellbeing.
BVSC have also recruited Community Wellbeing Volunteers to support Community
Connect, working in GP waiting rooms to have brief conversations with patients,
suggest or recommend community and voluntary sector services that may be of
interest, and where necessary make referrals into Community Connect. The
programme is supported by the University of Kent, with whom the CCG has a
partnership to provide an applied PhD research project that will evaluate the service.
What Bexley GPs say about Community Connect:
“Community Connect has been very helpful in reducing repeat attendances in
patients wanting to see GPs for social problems we can't directly help with”
“There is no doubt that social prescribing reduces the need for interaction with the
GP practice and makes it easier and more efficient for us to find the help that people
need, which means we then have more time to cope with the increasing demand at
the front door”
“Community Connect is improving the quality of care for patients, especially with
regard to their mental health”
“Mental health services, weight loss and physical activity programmes are easily
signposted through one service, saving significant GP time”
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Healthy London Partnership
NHS Bexley CCG, along with all of London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London Authority,
London Councils, Public Health England and NHS England (London) contributed
funding towards Healthy London Partnership (HLP) in 2018/19. The aim was to bring
together the NHS and partners in London to work towards the common goals set out
in Better Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View and the devolution
agreement.
2018/19 has been another busy year for Healthy London Partnership. Through
successful partnership working across health and care in London, HLP has helped to
deliver on a range of programmes, outputs and achievements spanning primary and
community care, secondary care and mental health, as well as those focussed on
integration of health and care and place based care. All this work is part of the
partnership’s collective aim to make London the world’s healthiest city. The
programmes of work have included:


a collaborative focus on social prescribing, which is a way of linking patients in
primary care with sources of support within the community for non-medical
needs. Work has included developing a draft vision to support the scale and
spread of social prescribing across London.



Projects undertaken by Thrive LDN, the citywide movement launched by
Mayor Sadiq Khan to improve the mental health and wellbeing of all
Londoners. This included helping young Londoners to organise a festival of
cultural activity as part of Thrive LDN’s wider Are we OK London? campaign,
which this year had a potential reach of over 23 million people, and
publishing Londoners Said… – a report summarising the findings of the 17
community conversations run in partnership with the Mental Health
Foundation (MHF) in half of London’s boroughs. The report includes 10
recommendations from Londoners on how to ensure people have the right
support to stay mentally healthy.



Further focus on children and young people was demonstrated through
London’s annual #AskAboutAsthma campaign. Additionally, HLP has
developed the London asthma standards for children and young people,
bringing ambitions for how asthma care should be delivered across the city
with national and local standards, along with a new online toolkit for staff
which to date has been accessed just under 19,000 times.



Focus on mental health service improvement, including rollout of the London
Mental Health Dashboard to make a wide range of London’s mental health
data publicly accessible in one place. Urgent suspected cancer referral
activity data is also now presented in a useful interactive dashboard
developed by HLP. Through HLP, London’s A&E departments and police
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forces have worked together to develop a handover process for voluntary
mental health patients in emergency departments, which has resulted in 83%
fewer people going missing from A&E during a mental health crisis compared
to the previous year. The handover process was awarded the Best Patient
Safety Initiative in A&E at the 2018 HSJ Awards.
HLP also launched a Mental Health in Schools Toolkit in 2018 which provides
a range of information for schools, governors and commissioners on mental
health and emotional wellbeing in schools. The suite of resources includes
links to relevant guidance, practical tools and resources, and examples from
across London of new initiatives and approaches in schools or across local
authorities.

3.3.2 Leadership
NHS 70th anniversary
On the 5th July 2018, the NHS celebrated its 70th
birthday. Lakeside Medical Practice in Thamesmead in
particular marked the occasion by staff taking part in a
special NHS 70 celebration film, highlighting the use of
technology, streamlined systems and building
developments to improve patient experience and
accessibility to services. Some CCG staff were also
able to attend a special service at Westminster Abbey to celebrate the date.
Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL)
OHSEL is South East London’s Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP),
and brings together our health and social care partners in south east London to make
sure we are doing all we can to work in partnership to get the best health outcomes
for our population.
OHSEL evolved from a commissioner-led strategy – established in 2013 - into a partnership
between local commissioners and providers, working with local authorities, patients and the
public.
Published on 4 November 2016, the original Sustainability and Transformation Plan was a
series of plans for different clinical areas and enablers, such as workforce and estates,
which are at different stages of development. Our south east London Sustainability and
Transformation Plan was one of the first in the country to be made public.
The NHS Long Term Plan was published on 7 January 2019 with a requirement for us to
review our existing plan and agree a refreshed version based on the commitments set out in
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the new Long Term Plan. We will be submitting our revised plan for the next five years in
autumn 2019.
In December 2018, we completed an 11 week aspirant Integrated Care System (ICS)
programme. The vision set out in the Long Term Plan is for all STPs to become ICSs by
2021. As part of the programme we looked at delivering better joined up care at borough
level as well as networking more specialist services. We will be taking forward work toward
becoming an ICS in 2019/20.
Our STP has set the following five priorities:
1. Developing consistent and high quality community based care (CBC), primary
care development and prevention. This is an essential building block of our
Integrated Care System approach alongside the development of at scale approaches
to preventing ill health and reducing health inequalities.
2. Improve quality and reduce variation across both physical and mental health.
This includes better integration of mental health, and reducing the pressure on and
simplifying urgent and emergency care.
3. Reducing cost through provider collaboration. This includes consolidation of
some clinical and non-clinical support services such as pathology and finance back
office functions.
4. Developing sustainable specialised services. This includes mental health
collaboration, renal and cardiac work.
5. Changing how we work together to deliver transformation. This focuses on how
we can make sure that we are able to provide care for the population of south east
London as it grows and ages, in a way that is affordable and meets the needs of a
21st century population. In particular, it looks at new and more effective ways of
providing care; avoiding the need to visit hospitals and making the best use of new
technology.
Engagement
The models of care developed through Our Healthier South East London are the result of
several years of partnership working between clinicians, commissioners, council social care
leads and local hospitals and have been informed by extensive engagement at south east
London level and through CGGs with local communities, patients and the public.
Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG): We have patient and public voices (PPVs)
on each of our clinical workstreams influencing all our key programmes of work and feeding
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into our PPAG. The PPAG is made up of 14 PPVs, each of whom covers one or more
specific workstreams. PPAG meets on a bi-monthly basis.
Elective Orthopaedic Clinical Network: Orthopaedic surgery is one of the main
reasons for people having operations in south east London. Formed in 2018, our
network aims to ensure equal outcomes at all our hospitals across the STP. The
network is comprised of healthcare professionals and a patient representative with
personal experience of receiving elective orthopaedic care at Orpington Hospital.
This year we have agreed a standard pathway for people having hip and knee
replacements. We set up focus groups of patients who had experienced these
procedures, to inform development of the standard pathway.
Maternity Voices: A Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) is a group made up of women
and their families, commissioners and healthcare professionals working together to review
and contribute to the development of local maternity care. There are MVPs across all of the
six boroughs of south east London and each MVP has a local action plan. In addition there
is MVP representation on both the south east London maternity public health workstream
and the south east London Better Births Plan workstream. The role of the MVP member
within these workstreams is to be the voice of the women who will use the maternity
services, providing guidance around the needs of this group of women and fully contributing
to all discussions around the workstream objectives.
Stakeholder and Equalities Reference Group meetings: We continued to hold these
meetings in 2018/19 to ensure our plans are assured around patient and public engagement
and equalities issues. The Stakeholder Reference Group submitted feedback as part of
NHS England’s initial engagement on developing the NHS Long Term Plan.

Some highlights from 2018/19
Cancer - Better access to diagnosis and advice through a new nurse-led out-of-hours
helpline for all cancer patients across south east London; targeted bowel cancer screening
for people with learning disabilities; free home testing kits for patients showing potential
signs of colorectal cancer but at low risk; a new Rapid Access Diagnostic Clinic, which is
now also working more closely with mental health services; a new academy at Guy’s
Cancer Centre to enhance excellent cancer care.
Community Based Care - Introducing the Red Bag Pathway across south east
London. This reduces the time taken for ambulance transfers, A&E assessments and
helps reduce avoidable hospital admission for care home residents through a
systematic and easily recognisable way of transferring paperwork, medications and
personal belongings
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Better estates – developing our estates strategy; receiving national capital and
other funding for projects to support improved access to a broader range of more
joined up services in community settings; and starting to redevelop Gallions Reach
Health Centre in Thamesmead, one of the largest community estates investments in
our STP.
Mental health – improvements in the year include increasing access for young people
through a free online counselling service, Kooth; increasing support for women in the first
year after birth; and increasing access to support for people with mental ill health by training
peer mentors who have lived experience of mental ill health.
Urgent and Emergency Care - The new 111 Integrated Urgent Care service was launched
earlier this year. It gives people easier access to advice and services where needed with
additional input from GPs, nurses, paramedics and pharmacists.
Developing our workforce – by increasing their skills and increasing the range of
professionals working in GP surgeries. For example, the Physician Associate
Development Programme aims to increase the number of physician associates
working in south east London and enhance the skill mix and capacity of GP practices
in our boroughs.
Pathology - In 2018, provider trusts and clinical commissioning groups in south
east London started to work together to implement a network for delivering pathology
services under a single shared specification, in line with NHS Improvement’s national
pathology strategy. The chosen option was to procure a networked model and a
south east London pathology board was established to oversee the process.
South East London Commissioning Alliance
Launched on 1 April 2018, South East London Commissioning Alliance brings
together the six CCGs in south east London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth,
Lewisham and Southwark) to build on our existing collaboration to commission
services more efficiently and effectively for local people in each borough and across
south east London.
Each CCG in south east London retained their sovereign status and accountability
for commissioning primary, community, mental health and hospital services for
residents in their boroughs.
As part of the new arrangement, Southwark, Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich and
Lewisham CCGs agreed to share a single Accountable Officer and single Chief
Finance Officer (CFO). Andrew Bland took on the role of Accountable Officer from 1
April 2018 and Usman Niazi started as CFO on 12 February 2019. The CCG
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Directors of Finance acted as CFOs for their CCGs until Usman’s appointment.
Andrew Eyres remained as Accountable Officer for Lambeth and Croydon CCGs.
Neil Kennett-Brown was appointed as Managing Director for NHS Bexley CCG, in
addition to fulfilling the same role at NHS Greenwich CCG, in February 2019
following the secondment of Theresa Osborne to Director of Commissioning System
Reform for South East London Commissioning Alliance. Neil is responsible for the
CCG’s local commissioning of services and the local team of CCG directors.
In its first year the Alliance explored opportunities for CCGs to work more
collaboratively looking at functions that can be carried out once on behalf of all
CCGs including development of a South East London Assurance team, and activities
where greater collaboration brings better outcomes for patients. Toward the end of
2018/19, we undertook focused work on our model for becoming an Integrated Care
System through an 11-week programme with NHS England.
2018/19 highlights
The Integrated Contracting Delivery Team (ICDT) significantly streamlined our
contracting and negotiating functions and brought about improvements across all our
providers. The team also works closely with each of the CCGs so that we can roll out
initiatives at scale. A good example of this is in Planned Care, where we have rolled
out a range of tools, such as Consultant Connect and VisualDx which help support
GP decision making and reduces the need for patients to be referred to hospital.
Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs started to develop ways of working to
address the challenges within those three boroughs for commissioners, providers
and local authorities. With a focus on Quality, Innovation, Productivity and
Prevention, a new team and different governance structure was set up to support
new joint working arrangements help to reduce the demands on each CCG.
As a system, we have also made smaller changes that contribute to being more
effective and making better use of funding, for example by implementing a single
software package for managing governing body and committee papers across all
CCGs.
Looking forward to 2019/20 the SEL Commissioning Alliance will continue to support
even greater collaboration to support us in refreshing our plans following publication
of the NHS Long Term Plan and our move toward becoming an Integrated Care
System.
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The establishment of a pan-SEL CCG approach to performance and financial
assurance: South East London Integrated Governance & Performance
Committee
In November 2018 the south east London (SEL) Integrated Governance and
Performance (IG&P) committee was established by agreement of the governing
bodies of the six CCGs within the south east London Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (STP) area. Collectively the CCGs agree that some
performance challenges (particularly those related to the acute sector) require a
consistent approach is resolve these issues and this is best addressed at a south
east London level. There is also a mutual dependency in respect of financial
delivery, which impacts all SEL CCGs. SEL CCGs recognise the need to understand
the collective position and mitigations for each organisations contribution to the SEL
financial position.
As such, the SEL IG&P has been established to monitor the delivery of provider
organisations’ statutory and delivery responsibilities to ensure agreed actions and
mitigations are followed through; to discuss and agree appropriate remediation; and
to pro-actively identify and address declining performance indicators, ensuring
deterioration is managed rapidly. The current scope of the SEL committee includes
oversight of and coordination of the SEL CCGs’ response to: the delivery of the SEL
CCG control total (and as such the individual annual CCG control totals); the
sustainable delivery of the NHS Constitution standard for referral-to-treatment (RTT)
waiting times, cancer and diagnostics; and identification and pro-active management
of key strategic and operational risks relating to these areas.
The committee is chaired by an independent lay person (who does not sit on the
governing body of any CCG). Membership is made up of representatives from all
SEL governing bodies and the south east London commissioning alliance (SELCA)
executive team.
During January and February 2019, the scope and approach of the SEL IG&P have
been reviewed and recommendations for its future scope and function within CCGs’
governance structures will be taken to all SEL governing bodies for agreement.
Commissioning Capabilities Programme
The CCG leadership team were fortunate to be able to participate in a twelve week
leadership development programme for system commissioners which considered
how to develop the CCGs commissioning capabilities. This programme involved
completion of a maturity matrix for the CCG to assess which areas it should focus on
for development, and to identify best practice which should be shared elsewhere.
Outputs from this programme have been used to influence definition and delivery of
the CCGs corporate objectives and ensure the CCGs workforce has the right skills to
commission appropriate and high quality services for Bexley residents.
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Review of Governance structures
One of the benefits of closer collaboration across south east London has been the
sharing of best practice between CCGs. Applying this benefit to our approach to
governance, the CCGs management team took the opportunity in the year to review
whether the organisations governance structure was still suitable for its needs, and
using examples from partner CCGs, adopted a new structure to ensure CCG
processes were as robust as possible. The new structure was approved by the CCG
governing body and its membership in June 2018 and has been created to ensure
that, in addition to a robust set of governance processes that complement those at
an STP level, a high level of focus is given to achieving good quality commissioning
and procurement activities. The new governance structure is discussed further in the
Accountability report later in this document.
Integrated commissioning work with London Borough of Bexley
The CCG has a strong history of close collaboration with London Borough of Bexley
to ensure our residents enjoy joined up health and social care provision. Utilising a
team of commissioners who work in both organisations, creative thinking,
unconstrained by organisational boundaries, enables a place based approach to
solving problems across the system. A recent example of this was the approach to
winter support for the local acute system, where the team developed a joint
admission avoidance and discharge support menu working in partnership with our
local providers. A joined up approach to early health interventions ensures the best
use of the resources of both organisations.
Bexley Health and Wellbeing Board
The Health and Wellbeing Board in Bexley is chaired by the Leader of the Council
and vice-chaired by the CCG Chair, and comprises representatives from the CCG,
local authority and other community organisations. Providing an example of strong
collaborative working across the organisations, the Board has provided input to the
key health strategies developed for the borough, including the System-wide Bexley
Prevention Strategy and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Feedback on the value
of the CCGs input to the Board is provided through specific inclusion of Health and
Wellbeing Board representatives in the annual 360° CCG stakeholder survey.
Through participation in the Board, the CCG is able to support and influence joint
health and wellbeing strategies and ensure alignment with its local transformation
plans. Examples of its direct input into the Health and Wellbeing Board strategies
include co-production of the Prevention Strategy and provision of data for the Bexley
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
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Engaging people and communities in Bexley
NHS Bexley CCG has a strong record of engaging patients and the public in our
work. We believe that meaningful patient and public participation can help us to
develop and deliver services that are safe, effective and underpinned by a clear
understanding of public views, concerns and aspirations.
Under the Health and Social Care Act we have a legal duty to engage and involve
our local population in decisions that affect them; to involve patients and carers in
decisions relating to their care and treatment and to involve the public in the planning
and buying of healthcare services. It is also a core moral value of NHS Bexley CCG
to make sure that the patient and public voice and their experiences underpins the
work we do. We therefore strive to make sure that our approach to engagement is
timely, inclusive, diverse, accessible and tailored to all members of our community.
Our aims for engagement are underpinned by several core strands of work which are
developed and monitored by our Equality, Patient experience, Engagement &
Committee (EPEC), these are;
 Involvement is representative of all our communities
 Utilise the patient participation groups (PPG’s) in every member practice
 Strengthen support and functions for patient and public involvement
 Consistently involve people in planning, evaluation and improvement
 Put patients at the heart of everything we do
We recognise that people want to get involved at different levels and in different
ways. In light of this we have an aspiration to communicate with and involve patients
and the public in a variety of ways and use their feedback to help shape our work.
This includes:
Ways to get involved

Impact

EPEC
Bexley Patient Council

Involving patient champions in providing assurance that
our engagement is robust and inclusive

PPG network

Engaging local people on developments, improvements
and changes to general practice

Membership scheme and
patient advisory group

Sharing information with patients and wider public so
they are aware of our work, how to get involved and
make informed choices
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Focus groups, surveys,
events

Asking people for their views about services and
feedback on our plans for service development/ design
or change

Lived experiences
Patient stories

involving patients (and carers of patients) with lived
experiences in projects related to a long term conditions
and service monitoring
FEEDBACK & OUTCOME

Feeding back to people so that they can see how their experiences and views
have influenced our decisions and helped to shape services
This section of the annual report describes the structures and processes we have to
support meaningful involvement; it offers some examples of good practice and
outlines how we are working with our stakeholders and partners to ensure we are
reach diverse groups to ensure inclusivity.
Support for Patient and public involvement (PPI) and assurance
The Lay Member for PPI actively champions the patient voice and chairs the Bexley
Patient Council and our assurance committee – EPEC. Following the appointment
of a new member of staff in October 2018 our Patient Engagement & Experience
Team now has additional resource to ensure our responsibilities for engagement,
patient experience and equality are met. This demonstrates our commitment to
patient involvement and has enabled the CCG to increase engagement with a wide
range of diverse stakeholders. We have also developed an equality matrix and
outreach programme to strengthen relationships with a broad range of community
groups representing diversity and those that support people with protected
characteristics.
In the summer of 2018 NHS England undertook a desktop review of the CCG’s work
to engage with the people and communities it is responsible for commissioning
services on behalf of. The CCG was pleased to receive a score of 10/15 and Green
(Good) rating for 2018/19.
Individual participation
Patients and carers are involved in managing their own health, care and treatment.
This means being involved in decisions about their care and having choice.
Self-management and skill development for people with diabetes
All people found to have diabetes are strongly encouraged to attend a selfmanagement and skill development course – XPERT. The aim of the programme is
to reduce people’s risk of developing complications by improving their ability to selfmanage their condition through improved knowledge and confidence.
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Service user experience is an integral part of the programme, which continues to
evaluate well in terms of patient experience and outcomes. The quote below was
received recently from a patient who attended an XPERT course in North Bexley.
“I cannot find the words to express my gratitude for the acquired knowledge and
understanding that has greatly assisted in the control of my diabetes. By
controlling my own medical problem this eases the strain on medical staff,
medication costs, and many other benefits I am yet to enjoy. It appears to me to
be a benefit that will keep on giving.
Engagement plays a crucial role in shaping diabetes services. In addition to service
user feedback we have recruited representatives to take part in developing our work;
we also have three diabetes champions who regularly take part in meetings with
commissioners.
Mystery Shopper
Being a mystery shopper is different to other feedback methods as it happens just
after you have had contact with health services. We have continued to use our
“mystery shoppers” this year to give us patient feedback on the services that we
commission for Bexley residents.
This gives us feedback from a patient, service user or carer as they go through the
health system as it happens, right from the first point they have had contact with the
NHS. This means that any actions that we need to take to improve levels of care can
be acted on quickly, if necessary.
By the end of March 2018/19 we had 651 registered mystery shoppers. During the
year we also received 217 feedback reports from members, who collectively shared
a range of insights about their healthcare treatment and experience.
If you would like to become a mystery shopper you just need to be over 16 and a
patient, service user or carer registered with a GP practice in Bexley. Call the
patient experience team on 0800 328 9712 or complete an online registration form
by visiting our website.
Collective participation
a) Bexley Patient Council
The CCG’s Patient Council was established in 2011. This group is made up of 25
members from local community and faith groups, voluntary sector organisation,
patient participation groups and Healthwatch. The Patient Council meet every two
months to work with the CCG and give their views and opinions on behalf of local
people. This year the patient council has been actively involved in the following:
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Focus group to consider proposals for Urgent Care in North Bexley
Provided feedback on Bexley’s borough wide prevention strategy
Attended workshop /training to increase understanding of financial
management
Established an easy read sub group to assist with translating technical
terminology in our Transformation strategy, supporting our commitment to
accessible information for everyone.

b) PPG network
We believe that PPGs are the lynchpin of healthcare engagement in our borough.
This place based approach offers an opportunity to support PPG members to
champion the views of local people. Whilst running a PPG is a contractual obligation
for our member practices, we also recognise the challenges and pressures faced by
primary care. We have therefore invested in our PPGs by:





Offering visits to support our PPGs
Developed a peer support programme for PPGs who are struggling or
practices who need help to establish a PPG
Host regular network meetings for PPGs in Bexley
You can find more information, reports and resources on our PPG page of the
CCG website.

Case study
You said; a borough wide network should continue to facilitate on-going sharing of
best practice and a set of quality indicators/standards for PPGs should be identified.
We did: we created an additional staff role to support engagement, with a focus on
support for PPGs. This aspiration also links with an EPEC objective which is to
further support and learn from all PPG within practices across Bexley.
The Patient Experience team now works closely with PPGs in Bexley. We take part
in meetings to hear about the work the PPGs are doing as well as providing support
on how to set up a PPG for those who need it. The CCG also holds regular PPG
network meetings, which enable PPGs to come together and share information and
ideas, and to receive regular updates from the CCG.
c) Community and seldom heard groups – visit programme
Community and voluntary organisations are crucial to our work, not only for the
development of patient and public involvement but in providing opportunities to work
with communities facing a variety of health inequalities.
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So far we have visited a total of 19 groups and have captured intelligence on an
equality matrix. This provides evidence to helps us gain a better understanding of
patient experience and insight, as well as barriers and challenges in involvement
d) Equality, Patient experience, Engagement & Committee (EPEC)
In 2018 we combined our Patient Experience and Engagement working group with
our Equality Steering Group. The new committee is called EPEC; meetings take
place on a monthly basis. Membership consists of key CCG staff and community
partners (e.g. Healthwatch Bexley and the Voluntary Service Council). We have also
recruited several patient and public voice (PPV) champions to represent the voice of
patients in Bexley.
The role of EPEC is to work with the CCG to look at commissioning plans and
proposals and offer advice and comments to say whether we are doing enough to
involve and engage patients and the public.
During 2018/19 we worked with EPEC to develop and strengthen our equality impact
assessment templates and engagement templates. Completion of these documents
supports commissioners to develop engagement plans and ensures effective
participation in the commissioning process. The templates also support EPEC
members by providing clear information to enable approval of plans and assurance
to our Governing Body.
More information about EPEC, terms of reference and meeting papers can be found
on our website.
e) Working with our partners
We are committed to working with the voluntary and community sector to ensure that
we hear from and receive feedback from the wide range of ‘hidden’ communities. To
support us in this work we commissioned Healthwatch Bexley to help us with two
projects in 2018, these were;


Audit of patient participation groups in Bexley
The purpose of this audit was to engage with practices and PPGs, to identify
what type of PPG they have in place, how they operate and where there are
any gaps/needs. A copy of the report can be found via the following link.
http://www.healthwatchbexley.co.uk/sites/default/files/healthwatch_ppg_audit
_final.pdf



Recruitment of 2,000 mystery shoppers
Healthwatch worked with the CCG to support a recruitment drive to
encourage membership of our mystery shopper scheme. This included
outreach in libraries across Bexley by Healthwatch volunteers.
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Patient experience & insights
The NHS Constitution is clear that every individual deserves to have as good an
experience of the NHS as we can possibly provide. To ensure this happens, we
need to listen to people in order to understand what they need and what works for
them. This is what we mean by insight and feedback. Insight is an important way of
understanding the need and experiences of all communities and a key tool in
tackling health inequalities.’ There are a number of ways we capture insights and
feedback in Bexley, including:





Mystery shopper
Patient stories
Lived experiences – deep dives
Complaints

Case study
A growing and ageing population, with multiple health conditions, means that primary
care is central to the health system. Throughout 2018/19 the patient experience
team have been working closely with the primary care team to support changes,
developments and engagement. This work involved coproducing engagement plans
with PPGs so that we understand the impact of proposed changes on local people
and can use their feedback to support decision making.
You said/we did: Feedback from service users has supported wider insight and
intelligence gathered through engagement has been presented to our Primary Care
Commissioning Committee, along with other local information, to help make
decisions about the future of primary care services in Bexley.

Our approach to engagement
NHS Bexley CCG wants to make participation accessible to all members of our
community. We recognise that it is not just the diversity of the patient population that
we must account for, but also the particular participation preferences that individual
pockets of a population may hold. Whilst some people may wish to be active
participants, others may require alternate approaches in order to foster engagement.
To reflect this, our approach to engagement is based on individual, collective and
community participation, which recognises that people have different motivations and
capacity to engage:
1. I want to speak up for myself or for my family
2. I want to speak up for my group and make sure their needs and expertise are
recognised
3. I want to help others in Bexley to speak up; I want to help to lead the system
4. I want to make my voice heard but need help and support in doing so
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Complaints
Complaints together with concerns, comments and compliments provide an
important source of information about the quality of services both provided and
commissioned in Bexley.
We have a Complaints Policy for management of concerns and complaints that arise
from the commissioning decisions we take. Such complaints may relate to eligibility
for continuing healthcare funding, problems associated with care pathways or
concern over services that we do not commission because, for example, they are not
recommended by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).
The majority of complaints about local NHS providers are best resolved by the
hospital or organisation providing the service. However, we may become involved in
provider complaints if there is also a commissioning element or if the complainant
requests us to have an overview.
Themes from complaints are reported to NHS Digital on a quarterly basis; trends are
also considered and monitored by our Quality and Safety Subcommittee.
The total number of complaints received and investigated that related to our
commissioning work or directly to us in 2018/19 was nine. We responded to these
complaints with input from relevant CCG staff or provider, where this was
appropriate.
The following table shows the breakdown of all complaints across the main service
areas during 2018/19.
Direct Commissioner Complaints - total

9

Funding decisions
Continuing healthcare
Community provider concerns with CCG oversight

2
4
3

We also received a further 8 complaints in relation to our commissioned services
which we passed on to the relevant organisation for resolution with permission from
the complainant.
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) provides a service to
the public by undertaking independent investigations into complaints; this is the final
stage of the NHS complaints process. In 2018/19, two cases were referred to the
PHSO, following a review both cases were not upheld and closed.
NHS Bexley CCG is committed to learning lessons from feedback received and
ensures complaints are used as a tool for service improvement. A number of cases
received last year prompted service reviews and the development of improvement
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action plans. This is achieved by working with staff and by reporting identifiable
trends through our governance process and committees.
Stakeholder feedback
Each year, the CCG participates in an annual 360 degree stakeholder survey
facilitated by NHS England, which asks stakeholders from a range of engagement
groups to share their views on the work of the CCG and its governing body. Groups
involved include all the GP member practices, local Healthwatch and patient groups,
the local authority, neighbouring CCGs, and service providers.
The CCG is pleased to report that 85% of participants contacted provided feedback
on the CCGs activities. As part of this data, the CCG received its highest ever
positive score for the effectiveness of its overall engagement with stakeholders, and
this is further reflected in the good scores received for involvement in commissioning
decisions and collaborative working. The results indicate that there is more work to
do on ensuring that the borough’s health inequalities are addressed, and engaging
with patient groups who generally experience poorer health outcomes. The full
results of the survey will be analysed in detail, and benchmarked against local peers,
to shape and inform the CCGs plans for 2019/20.
Emergency planning, resilience and response (EPRR)
As with all NHS organisations, NHS Bexley CCG needs to ensure that it has plans in
place to be able to respond to a wide range of incidents that could impact on
community health, patient care or the operation of the CCG itself. As a commissioner
of health services, the CCG is classified as a Category 2 responder under the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004, and is required to cooperate with and support partner
organisations such as the local authority and NHS England in delivering an incident
response and co-ordinating activities in the local health economy.
Each year, NHS organisations are required to complete a self-assessment of their
readiness in terms of EPRR planning, and submit this to NHS England for validation.
In 2018/19, NHS Bexley CCG was assessed as providing a “full” level of assurance,
meeting all NHS England core standards for emergency planning. This outcome was
shared with residents at the CCGs public governing body meeting in January 2019.
The CCG is required to identify an Accountable Emergency Officer to assume
executive responsibility for EPRR matters. This is the deputy managing director &
director of quality. The CCG has reviewed and updated its Business Continuity and
EPRR plans in the year, and participated in both local and regional exercises to test
and challenge plans. The CCG is an active member of the Bexley Borough
Resilience Forum and NHS England (London Region) EPRR network.
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3.3.3 Better care
Quality and patient safety
NHS Bexley CCG has a statutory duty and commitment to exercise its functions that
hold commissioned providers to account for the delivery of contractual obligations
and quality standards. The quality and safety of patient care is at the forefront of all
that we do to ensure patients are treated and cared for in a safe and effective
environment, and are protected from harm. The CCG ensures this by setting high
standards for services in contracts with all our providers, and by continuously
monitoring against these and relevant national standards.
Additionally, intelligence on the safety of patients, effectiveness of care and patients
experience of services is collected, analysed and reviewed at a range of internal and
external meetings. These include the CCGs Internal Quality Intelligence Group,
Quality & Safety Sub Committee and CCG Governing Body, through to external
provider Clinical Quality Review Groups and provider Contract Monitoring Board
meetings. All sources of information including hard and soft intelligence are used to
inform these meetings including the Care Quality Commission’s five key questions;
Are services Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive and Well-Led; and where quality
improvement areas are identified they are discussed with providers to gain
assurance any agreed corrective action is taken.
Membership of these meeting includes a combination of senior medical and nursing
staff, CCG and provider managers, CCG governing body members and patient
representatives.
Our nursing and safeguarding team also monitors the organisations which provide
services to make sure they deliver best practice in safeguarding children, children
(looked after) and vulnerable adults.
The CCG takes seriously its responsibility to support NHS England to improve the
quality of primary care, and to work with and support member GP practices and
wider primary care services to assure current standards. However, each practice
remains accountable for the quality of services within their own organisation. In
2018/19 all Bexley GP practices were rated as good overall by the Care Quality
Commission with one practice being rated as outstanding. Additionally, the CCG has
supported GP practices in undertaking Serious Incident investigations and have
ensured that learning is shared.
Integrated quality, safety and performance reports are published on the CCG’s
website and are regularly reviewed by the governing body at their meetings held in
public.
Examples of quality and performance improvements during 2018/19 include:
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Raising awareness of sepsis across the local system.
On-going support to Care Homes to ensure that quality is maintained and
improved where necessary.
Working with primary care to ensure that any serious incidents are reported,
reviewed and lessons are learnt.
Continued focus on improving compliance in relation to the Duty of Candour.
Faster and improved responsiveness to Improvement and Assessment
framework (IAF) red indicators.
Implementation of the LeDer work and ensuring lessons learnt are shared
through the steering group.
The quality team are involved in the CCG work in relation to improving the
care and treatment of people with disabilities. Work is on-going to ensure that
all people requiring an annual health check receive one. In addition changes
are being made to the information provided making it more user friendly, to
get a LD champion in all practices and to provide training to GPs to ensure
that the annual health check is of the highest quality.

Assurance visits
The CCG has developed a programme of visits to providers. These visits are
paramount in providing additional assurance regarding the quality of services and in
addition can provide an early warning of subsequent issues. As well as the
programme of visits the quality team responds to patient feedback or concerns
raised in other forums, including through its ‘Mystery Shopper scheme’.
One example of a visit made to a provider by the CCG quality team, is in response to
three incidents raised within a short space of time. Several issues were identified
during this visit which related to patient and staff safety. Immediate feedback was
provided after the visit and a follow up visit was conducted and as a consequence,
several changes were made by the provider that both supported and improved the
safety and quality of care, including:






Increased activities for patients.
Reviewing the food offered to patients.
A focus by staff on risk management and updating care plans.
Reviewing the consultant provision on the ward.
Ensuring staff are aware of how to escalate concerns.

Another visit undertaken to an acute hospital was in relation to Mixed Sex
Accommodation (MSA) across the hospital. The numbers reported at the time by the
hospital were in the region of 500 breaches. Through a process of partnership
working, reviewing the data to ensure correct reporting, a review of how the
guidance was interpreted and ensuing this was a focus for improvement by the
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hospital, the numbers have been reduced to approximately 25. The Clinical Quality
Review Group has worked closely with the senior team in the hospital to support this
quality improvement.
CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation)
Originating in 2009, the vision for the CQUIN scheme was aimed at promoting
quality improvements and innovation in key areas. The direction of CQUIN for
2018/19 represented the second year of the 2017-2019 scheme and the guidance
for 2018/19 was updated to reflect the ambitions of the Five Year Forward View Next
Steps, the NHS mandate and the Planning guidance.
The 2018/19 CQUIN focussed on two areas, clinical quality and transformational
indicators. For Bexley CCG the prioritised initiatives included the promotion of
effective demand management systems based on a number of initiatives and
operational practice, for example reductions of referrals to secondary care supported
by peer review of referrals and direct access to diagnostics.
Quality Premium
The Quality Premium (QP) scheme for Clinical Commissioning Groups aims to
encourage quality improvements in the services commissioned. For 2018/19 the
Quality Premium was revised to ensure improvements continue in key quality priority
areas, for example continuing healthcare, mental health and blood stream infections.
The local indicator for the Quality premium in Bexley for 2018/19 as in 2017/18
concerned the performance for asthma reviews in primary care. In 2017/18 almost
74% of asthma reviews were completed for Bexley resident with asthma in the
preceding 12 months, thus above the target set at 72%.
The results for the local indicator for 2018/19 will not been known until data is
released in October 2019, however it is hoped that the 82% target for asthma
reviews will be achieved. Work has continued with the promotion asthma care for
Bexley residents by the asthma GP lead with raising awareness and the promotional
use of asthma care plans. This has become part of the wider expansion and
integration of respiratory services within Bexley’s community and general practice.

Quality Alert Management System
NHS Bexley CCG uses a Quality Alert Management System (QAMS) which is
designed to manage both system and clinical issues that have been identified within
CCG commissioned services. The use of QAMS has contributed to improved patient
safety and quality of care through identification of serious incidents and management
of less serious clinical and system issues. The Quality team at the CCG continue to
monitor the system on a daily basis and follow the set process for managing the risks
and alerts raised.
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During 2018-2019 the system has overseen several patient care and pathway
improvements, for example:




Clinic capacity increased to reduce waiting list with the recruitment of 3
consultants and additional clinics
Changes to prescribed medication post procedure to reduce the number of
patients requesting additional supplies from primary care
Introduction of regular administration audits to check the accuracy and quality
of outgoing clinical letters with additional random spot checks to review the
quality of work

The quality team continue to highlight and follow up on alerts with providers at the
clinical quality review group meetings and other forums.
Primary Care
There have been a number of developments within the primary care landscape in
Bexley in the last year. As a result of practice mergers and changes, there are now
33 practice sites in the borough compared to 40 in 2016. The principal reasons for
these changes are to optimise utilisation of estate, improve efficiency of practice
working, and position practices to have the capacity to support Bexley’s growth
plans. A significant change in the structure of practices in the year, as a
consequence of external uncontrollable factors, was the closure of Cairngall practice.
The CCG ensured throughout the process that patients were fully informed and
supported in their dispersal to other local practices, recognising that sufficient
capacity existed in surrounding practices to absorb Cairngall’s patient list.
NHS England’s strategy document “Next Steps on the NHS Five Year Forward View”
describes the NHS as leading the world in the use of IT in primary care. Responding
to this locally, NHS Bexley CCG has a number of technological transformation
projects underway to support a different way of working and recognise the shift in
emphasis and expectations from patients to use more technology. Digital innovations
in Bexley include:





Improved IT network connections to support greater use of technology such
as video consultations
Text message appointment reminders – all Bexley practices have the facility
to text message patients appointment reminders and for patients to cancel
appointments via return text to maximise appointment availability
NHS Bexley Online GP app that allows all patients to communicate in a new
way with their GP and gives them access to an online consultation. The NHS
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Online Bexley app also enables patients to manage appointments, order
prescriptions and view their medical records online
Tele-health and healthcare –a pilot scheme that has been underway since
September 2018 with a Bexley care home to support residents remotely and
help prevent them needing to be transferred to hospital
Free WI-FI available to patients across all GP sites, the UCCs and extended
access GP hubs
Data integration and interoperability between service providers to achieve a
safe, convenient and personalised health and care service

Integrated Case Management Meetings
Integrated Case Management (ICM) meetings are an integral part of Bexley’s Local
Care Networks (LCNs), a collaborative partnership between the organisations
involved in the delivery of health and care services including NHS Bexley CCG,
Bexley Care, Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust, London Borough of Bexley, Bexley
Health Neighbourhood Care - the Bexley GP Federation (BHNC), hospital trusts, and
community and voluntary sector providers. ICMs are led by Bexley GPs and give
GPs the opportunity to a wide range of health and care professionals into
discussions on how patients can best be supported to maintain their health. ICMs
were rolled out across Bexley in 2018 and include GPs, consultants, a range of
physical and mental health professionals, voluntary sector organisations and other
specialist care partners. The meetings improve care for patients by giving the many
organisations responsible for their care a voice in discussing how best to coordinate
services to support the patient, all under the direction of their own GP.
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Safeguarding
NHS Bexley CCG regards its statutory responsibilities to safeguard children, young
people and adults at risk of harm as a major priority in its own work, and that of local
partners. Safeguarding boards facilitate robust working partnerships that address the
needs of, and safeguard the vulnerable including those children and young people
looked after by the local authority. In addition, regular reporting on the CCGs
safeguarding activities and performance is submitted to the CCGs governing body as
well as being monitored by the quality and safety sub-committee and the
safeguarding commissioning sub-committee. More information on the CCG’s
safeguarding work is provided in the CCG’s safeguarding annual report and the
Health of Children Looked After annual report.
Children’s safeguarding
New legislation (Children and Social Work Act 2017) and statutory guidance
(Working Together 2018) has replaced Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards
(LSCBs).
Bexley was the first in the country to replace its Safeguarding Children Board with
the new local partnership arrangements. Following a period of shadowing the
LSCB, the new arrangements became operational and were published in October
2018. Within these new arrangements the CCG is an equal statutory partner with the
Local Authority and Police. The deputy managing director and director of quality is
joint chair alongside the LBB Director of Children’s services and the Police Chief
Superintendent.
In Bexley some of the biggest changes and improvements we have made in the past
few years have happened because of our strengthened and strengthening work as a
partnership around local children, young people, young adults, carers and families.
We take our responsibilities to work alongside families and to support them to find
solutions to their difficulties seriously. We want children to be safe and to grow up to
be successful adults. We therefore agreed five shared ambitions for our new
partnership:






All children and young people are safe from harm
All children and young people are healthy and enjoy healthy lifestyles
All children and young people enjoy and achieve at school and/or college so
that they have the skills they need for life and future employment
All children and young people have access to leisure and opportunities for fun
as they are growing up
All children and young people are active in their communities, their
experiences count and they have a voice with influence.
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The new partnership carried forward the existing priorities from the former BSCB and
agreed additional priorities for the partnership to take forward. For its first year of
operation the new partnership agreed three priorities in 2018 with each partner
leading a priority:





Priority 1 - Reduce the number of children and young people missing from
home or care including those subjected to criminal and sexual exploitation –
led by the Police
Priority 2 - Respond effectively to the mental ill health of parents so they are
supported to give their children the best start – led by the CCG
Priority 3 - Get basic child protection right – led by the Local Authority

The appointment of our independent scrutineer in October 2018 is critical to provide
assurance in judging the effectiveness of our safeguarding arrangements to protect
children. The safeguarding partners aim to create an environment conducive to
robust scrutiny and constructive challenge around our priorities.
Additionally, changes to child death reviews were part of the wider system
transformation for safeguarding. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 also
established joint responsibility for child death reviews between the local authority and
CCG and enables a wider geographical footprint for these partnerships.
Bexley will form a tri-borough child death overview panel with Lewisham and
Greenwich CCGs/local authorities in September 2019. A steering group is in place to
progress the new arrangements. Funding has been agreed across the 3 boroughs to
additional support to the new processes.

Looked After Children
Health providers continue to work well with our local authority partners to ensure
children and young people receive a timely initial health assessment when they
become looked after.
Bexley continues to perform well in relation to ensuring all children looked after have
timely review health assessments and Health Summaries when leaving the service.
Key achievements are:


Performance for annual health assessments, dental checks and
immunisations in Bexley are consistently good with compliance above 90%.
Comparative data places Bexley well above the national average.
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A new process for young people leaving care at 18yrs to receive a health
summary is now in place and is working well. Feedback from young people
and staff are positive.

It has also been a priority for the children looked after health team to streamline the
operational process for the Education and Health Care Plans with statutory health
reviews. Processes are in the development phase and will continue to be monitored
during 2019.
Adult safeguarding
The adult safeguarding agenda continues to develop and expand. In addition to
providing expertise and guidance to the local health economy, the CCG provides
multiagency training in Modern Day Slavery, takes an active role in Counter
Terrorism Channel meetings and is the Local Area Coordinator for the learning
Disability Mortality Review programme.
The CCG has continued to work closely with the local authority, in partnership with
CQC and providers, to achieve positive developments in the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) ratings for Bexley care homes. In partnership with the London
Borough of Bexley, provider forums are held every quarter. These forums offer
support and expertise for improvements in practice in areas such as safer
admissions and discharge from hospital, medicines management and falls
prevention. The CQC overall rating of ‘good’ across all the care homes in Bexley,
has risen from 55% last year to 77% as of the end of December 2018.
The safeguarding processes of the acute and community providers are monitored
through dashboard information, safeguarding committees, CQC reports and audit
returns, which are scrutinised by the CCG in partnership with Bexley Safeguarding
Adults Board colleagues. All continue to make positive progress in embedding
safeguarding training and processes to ensure that any signs of abuse are identified.
There is a focus on ensuring that management of any identified safeguarding
concerns are undertaken in line with the’ Making Safeguarding Personal’ agenda
ensuring that the patient’s wishes and feelings are listened to and respected
throughout the process.
Ensuring that patient rights are upheld under the mental Capacity Act has been, and
will continue to be, a priority in Bexley where we have achieved an improvement in
the understanding of the need for informed consent, either by the individual or
through a process prescribed by law. Work continues through training mentoring and
challenge to ensure that this continues to improve. There has been an increase of
applications for Deprivation of liberty safeguards for patients both in the community
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and in hospital which provides evidence of an improved practical application of the
Mental Capacity Act.
The CCG, through the Mental Capacity Sub group of the Safeguarding Adults Board
have contributed to the development and publication of a Mental Capacity Toolkit for
providers which is now being considered for National Publication.
As core members of the Safeguarding Adults Board, the CCG deputy managing
director and director of quality is vice chair for the Board and has been the Acting
Chair for the last quarter of 2018/19. An Independent Chair with expertise in both
Adult and Children’s Services has been recruited and took up the position from 1st
April 2019. The CCG Safeguarding Lead chairs the quality and performance sub
group.
Focus on equality & diversity
The public sector equality duties (PSED) are of both general and specific duties. The
broad aim of the general equality duty is to have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the Act
because of any of these protected characteristics;




Race
Age
Gender
reassignment





Disability
Religion or belief
Pregnancy and
maternity





Sex
Sexual orientation
Marriage and civil
partnership

The second aim of the duty requires the CCG to have due regard to the need to
minimise or remove disadvantages, to take steps to meet the different needs of
people with different protected characteristics and to encourage participation in
activities by those whose participation is disproportionately low.
We believe in embedding equality through commissioning, in treating people fairly
with respect and dignity and in valuing diversity both as a commissioner of services
and as an employer. As such, actions and working practices have been put in place
to meet the requirements of the Equality Act (2010) which consolidates existing
equality legislation.
Equality progress in Bexley
In 2018/19 we reviewed our equality and diversity policy, this included an update to
our equality impact assessment process which has now been strengthened and
includes a two stage process (screening / full assessment).
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Our Equality Steering Group is now part of a combined engagement and equality
assurance committee - EPEC, which is chaired by our patient and public lay
member. The committee membership also comprises of staff, voluntary and
community sector organisations and public representatives.
The role of EPEC includes review of equality impact assessments, monitoring
progress in delivering equality objectives and reports to the Quality and Safety
Subcommittee on progress. This ensures that our public engagement approach is
linked to the delivery of our equality delivery system (EDS2).
Equality information is available on our website. This information is part of the public
commitment to meeting the equality duties placed upon the CCG by legislation and
is updated annually. We have published our annual equality report for 2018/19,
which describes in detail what we are doing to meet our equality duties. It also
includes an update on actions to address our equality objectives, which are
summarised below:
Equality
objective
Reduce inequality
in commissioning
and service
redesign

Action





Improve access to
healthcare for
vulnerable groups
and those with a
protected
characteristic
Empowered,
engaged and
supported staff



Demonstrate
commitment to
equality



Introduction









Refreshed equality policy
Reviewed equality objectives and work plans
Strengthened use of data in plans by completion of
robust equality analysis
Development of EPEC ensures equality has
appropriate focus in policy development and in our
plans
Created equality matrix – stakeholder mapping of
diverse groups in Bexley and identifying any barriers
they face
Focussed engagement planning - identifying target
groups to involve to support development and
delivery of our work
Monitor compliance of mandatory equality and
diversity training for employees
Identify and develop opportunities for training
Ensure that opportunities to challenge issues around
equality and diversity are provided
Improve access to health checks for people with
learning disabilities
Identify resources and offer training to improve skills
in providing health checks
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Partnership working
We are working with our partners across South East London to develop plans for
future services. The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) aligns with the
CCG’s equality objectives, and we play an active role along with other South East
London CCGs, in the Our Healthier South East London (OHSEL) Equalities Steering
Group. The Equalities Steering Group ensures that the latest intelligence and insight
on health inequalities is shared across all CCGs and addressed by the programme.
It identifies risks to the STP and its associated programmes whilst maintaining an
overview of health inequalities and related public health insights.
We determine assurance of our providers meeting their Public Sector Equalities Duty
through monitoring NHS Equality Delivery Systems (EDS2) and the NHS Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES). As part of our performance monitoring we work
closely with trusts to improve their demographic data collection, to enable them to
assess equalities and to measure success in addressing inequalities.
All CCG staff are required to undertake equality and diversity training on
appointment, which is refreshed every three years, this includes PREVENT
awareness training.
A staff health and wellbeing group has also been established and we are committed
to ensuring that staff are recruited and retained from diverse backgrounds, provided
with a positive work environment and given training and support to achieve their
maximum career development potential.
Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The Equality Delivery System (EDS2) is the NHS equalities reporting framework. It
helps us to identify what we are doing well, what we need to improve on, and the
equality gaps/risks that we need to close or mitigate. It is a comprehensive analysis
focusing on four goals (better health outcomes, improved patient access and
experience, a representative and supported workforce, and inclusive leadership)
measured against eighteen equality and health inequalities outcomes.
Like most CCG’s, we have taken a two-stage approach to implement EDS2. During
stage one, we self-assessed our progress made against EDS2’s four goals and 18
outcomes, using a Red, Amber, Green (RAG) rating. A draft of our stage one selfassessment report includes what evidence exists to support the RAG rating, equality
gaps and actions that may need to be taken to ensure that we are making progress.
Stage two will involve working with local organisations.
Mental health services
In 2018, the CCG worked together with its partners to develop and improve the
mental health services offered to Bexley residents. Activities include:
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Community Mental Health Team integration - 2018 has seen the
commencement an exciting period of transition for the community mental health
team in Bexley as the service moves towards the launch of a new model which
provides a Single Point of Contact (SPC) for all services provided by Bexley
Care, a collaboration between Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust and London
Borough of Bexley. The SPC will ensure rapid and timely access to health and
social care resources, including signposting to self-management interventions
and local community resources.



Crisis and Home Treatment - The CCG has committed significant additional
resources to improve Crisis and Home Treatment functions within Bexley as part
of the Mental Health Investment Standard, a national commitment to ensure that
resources for mental health increase in line with the totality of investment in local
health services.
The wider transformation work includes:
- Purposeful Admission: patients are only admitted to a ward when there is a
specific purpose and plan to that admission
- Crisis Line: 24/7 telephone access to a mental health professional for advice,
support and sign posting to alternatives to A&E
- Crisis Café: A joint venture with Bexley MIND to create a safe environment
for patients to access support, during the evenings and at weekends
- Home Treatment Team: expansion and enhancement of the team to
increase their capacity to assess and treat patients at home, and extend the
service to 24/7
- Bed Management: new working methods aimed at increasing the emphasis
on discharge planning and increasing capacity for clinical bed management
- Community Capacity/ Capability: enhancing capacity to better anticipate
and mitigate crisis presentations
Together, these initiatives will reduce A&E visits, and waiting times for
admission; reduce admissions and length of stay, and thus occupancy and
placement of patients out of area; and enhance care and experience by seeing
more patients at home and giving them alternatives to A&E.



Improved Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) - Referral and access
rates to the Mind in Bexley IAPT service have continued to increase in line with
the objectives and targets within the Five Year Forward View for Mental Health.
The service has benefitted from a range of digital innovations signposting people
to local services, including direct referrals links from the NHS website and the
London wide ‘Good Thinking’ campaign which includes targeted marketing of
services and resources in conjunction with social media. The Mind in Bexley
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service has also continued to engage and promote services to GPs and other
providers supporting people with long term health conditions.


Developing the wider workforce - the CCG has been successful in obtaining
funding from Health Education England to employ two Lived Experience
Practitioners to develop effective crisis planning and support those that have
high use of A&E and a high level of planned contacts. Funding has also been
obtained to provide training and support for the primary care workforce to better
support patients with Severe Mental Illness (SMI), for example, by the
completion of annual physical health checks.



Digital counselling – the CCG is taking part in an STP-wide pilot to make a
digital online counselling service available to residents. This form of service has
been identified as being effective as well as popular with young people in
addressing low level emotional health and wellbeing issues.

Urgent and emergency care
The CCG has been working hard in collaboration with its acute sector partners to
ensure that Bexley residents receive timely and locally based urgent and emergency
care services which meet their needs. The CCG has supported the development of
out of hospital services and promoted the use of self-care and other services such as
111 and pharmacists to reduce the pressure on local emergency departments. The
CCG also has in place a flow manager who works with acute trusts to ensure the
right community services are available to support patients who are being discharged
from hospital.
The borough has two urgent care facilities within its footprint, which both operate to
serve patients with urgent but not life threatening minor illness or injury. An Urgent
Care Centre (UCC) was opened at Queen Mary’s Hospital, Sidcup, in September
2017, and on average sees 5,500 patient attendances per month. As part of its drive
to support patient flow at this site and explore new innovations in IT, the CCG has
installed i-Pads in the UCC waiting room for patients to use to answer a set of
questions on their reason for attending the UCC, which enables staff to triage them
appropriately. This facility has been well received by patients and staff. The Urgent
Care Centre at Erith Hospital operates between 8am and 10pm every day and is
currently under the process of a review to determine the best solution to the
challenge of the site currently operating at full capacity and unable to cope with
increased demand.
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Community Services
Development of community services are vital to support the system’s ambition to
move from delivery of reactive care in acute facilities to pre-emptive health promotion
and delivery of care in community settings. Examples of community developments
delivered this year are:
 Minor Eye Conditions Service (MECS) - In July 2018, NHS Bexley CCG
mobilised a MECS service. The service receives all referrals for opthalmology
and can assess and treat minor eye conditions. Patients are triaged by
accredited clinicians into either MECS or secondary providers, offering patient
choice. This has supported patients being seen in the right place at the right
time, within either community or secondary providers whichever is clinically
appropriate.
 Bexley Respiratory Project – the MyCOPD app - a self-help app supporting
people with a diagnosis of COPD through provision of expert led video online
training courses, assistance in monitoring symptoms including lung function, use
of a COPD self-management plan, online pulmonary rehabilitation, weather/ air
pollution forecasting, and assisting patients to understand how to take their
inhaled medication and rescue packs correctly. Engagement exercises have
been carried out with local respiratory support groups to improve awareness of
the service, and feedback so far has been positive and well received.
Continuing Healthcare (CHC) and personal health budgets
Personal health budgets (PHBs) have been under the spotlight this year with
challenging targets across the system. The CCG has investigated innovative ways to
deliver personal health budgets in order to offer a broad spectrum of service users
both direct management and control over how their health needs are met.
The CHC team have had particular success in supporting patients with long term
conditions who require intensive support for day-to-day living through the use of
PHBs. Examples include supporting a lady with a young family who, following a
spinal cord injury, requires intensive input over a 24 hour period, to return to work
part time and improve her general independence through the use of dedicated
funded carers, and supporting a young man with complex medical conditions to
complete a university degree through funding a flexible carers arrangement which
enables care to go wherever the patient is.
Better Care Fund (BCF)
NHS Bexley CCG and the London Borough of Bexley have continued to work
together with partners and providers to deliver the Better Care Fund (BCF). 2018/19
was the second year of a two-year BCF Plan and efforts have focussed on delivering
better integrated and person-centred care with resources directed towards services
based in the community, keeping people out of hospital unless they really need to be
there. As well as funding from the CCG, delivery of the plan is supported by other
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funding from the local authority relating to the improved Better Care Fund and the
Disabled Facilities Grant. The BCF Plan has continued to invest in intermediate care
services, care pathway improvements, and the delivery of personalised health and
social care at home or in the community. This has contributed to prevention of
unnecessary hospital admissions, reductions in lengths of stay, and supported timely
discharge from hospital. Collaborative working between BCF partners has also
continued to avoid or delay permanent admission to residential and nursing care. In
addition, this partnership working has been successful in maximising independence
through reablement, equipment provision and Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
adaptations.
Reducing Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) has continued to be a focus and ‘whole
system’ performance for the year shows that Bexley met the government’s ambitions
to reduce the number of average DToC Beds per day. This has included scrutiny
about flow through mental health wards, enabling an assertive approach to the
identification of potential DToC cases and preventative action to be taken.
In Bexley, key improvements were made to our admission avoidance and discharge
support pathways during the year in time for winter, which has enabled a more
integrated and responsive approach to community-based care. Additional therapy
provision in the emergency department at Queen Elizabeth Hospital has freed up the
Rapid Response Team to become fully community-facing and is supporting even
closer working with Care Homes and GPs to avoid unnecessary conveyances and
admissions to hospital. Since September 2018, patients have been discharged
direct from the hospital ward onto goal-based therapy-led reablement with
impressive results. Ring-fenced step up beds at Queen Mary’s Hospital have been
fully occupied over winter, providing frailty assessment and optimising rehabilitation
of patients. These improvements have contributing to improved reablement
outcomes for Bexley patients.
A collective effort has also been made to improve the quality of care within care
homes, ensure residents have access to the right health services, and reduce
unnecessary conveyances and admissions to hospital. This includes a Telehealth
pilot in a local care home, which it is hoped will be an exemplar that can support
learning across the system.

3.3.4 Sustainability
Financial sustainability
During 2018/19 the CCG continued to tightly monitor expenditure. All procurement
and spending decisions followed CCG policies and procedures and considered the
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CCGs strategic direction as well as maximising the return on investment and
minimising the risk of unintended consequences.
The CCG has successfully achieved the following financial targets for 2018/19:
 To ensure that the CCG’s spend on administrative costs (that is, costs not
relating to healthcare services) does not exceed an amount specified by NHS
England
 To achieve payment of 95% of its invoices within 30 days of receipt
 To ensure capital expenditure in a financial year does not exceed the
allocated budget
 To ensure the CCG cash payments remain within the cash limit specified by
NHS England
However, despite exercising strong financial governance, and the CCG’s strenuous
efforts to contain its expenditure within its resource limit in 2018-19, very high growth
in the demand for services has meant that the CCG was unable to meet this financial
target, and has posted a deficit for the year. This resulted in a “red” score for in year
financial performance under the IAF.
All directorates within the CCG take collective responsibility for the organisations
financial sustainability. For example, during 2018-19, the CCG medicines
management team has continued a programme of work which commenced in
2017/18 and involved engaging with the Bexley population on self care, to
encourage people to recognise, treat and manage their own health. To support GPs
and patients to self care, the CCG’s medicines management team has published a
large number of resources, medicines recommendations and guidelines. In addition,
the Primary Care Team has been involved in encouraging GPs to further utilise a
number of available tools to optimise the use of referrals to the acute sector whilst
the Commissioning team have been involved in developing alliance working with
local partners. The Local Care Networks have been involved in multi-disciplinary
meetings to develop specific care plans for clients who frequently access healthcare
systems and these have been successful in assisting clients to manage their
conditions themselves.
Environmental, economic and social sustainability
As a local employer and organisation whose activities impact the local economy,
environment and community, NHS Bexley CCG acknowledges its responsibility to
consider issues of sustainability and to minimise the impact of its social and
environmental footprint.
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NHS Bexley CCG will ensure that it complies with obligations under the Climate
Change Act 2008, including its adaptation reporting power, and the Public Services
(Social Value) Act 2012.
The CCG is also committed to acting as a socially responsible employer by pursuing
efficient ways of working and considering the impact of its actions.
Statement of commitment
NHS Bexley CCG is committed to commissioning services in a way that supports the
NHS sustainable development agenda and contributes to environmental
improvements, regeneration and reducing health inequalities.
Within the organisation, this means minimising energy use and waste production,
promoting sustainable travel for staff, developing employment opportunities for local
people, and engaging local suppliers in procurement.
Examples of this commitment in action include:









the digitisation of resource-intensive activities such as continuing healthcare,
and of legacy documents
provision of a pool of bicycles and bicycle safety equipment to encourage staff
to consider the use of environmentally-friendly modes of transport to meetings
and when carrying out the business of the CCG
provision, where practical, of tele-conferencing or video-conferencing facilities
to reduce the need for staff and members to travel to meetings and make
more efficient use of time
using centralised printing facilities, using 100 % recycled paper in printing
facilities and encouraging staff to print only when absolutely necessary
sending all staff and members communications by email rather than by hard
copy
promoting the use of an electronic meeting papers system to obviate the need
to print meeting papers

For commissioning partners, this means that the CCG will robustly apply principles of
sustainability (environmental, economic and social) in all its partners’ activities.
Practically this means the CCG should make sure it:
 Plans services which are efficient and effective
 Procures services which provide the highest quality at best value and which
have the least impact on the environment
 Offer positive sustainable employment
 Deliver value for money
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Monitor services to ensure that sustainability is considered in providers’ dayto-day activities

The CCG is working with its major providers to review their sustainability plans and
annual carbon emissions as set out in the NHS policy framework.
The CCG is limited in the impact it can make in terms of buildings management as it
operates from serviced offices, but it works closely with its landlord, the facilities
management team and local service providers to ensure utilities and waste are
appropriately managed. The CCG is working together with local voluntary groups,
community groups and the local authority to drive out health inequalities within the
borough, as set out in this annual report, to secure stable social sustainability.
Through engagement with our patient council and local providers, we are also
making progress collaboratively to address issues around accessibility to health
facilities by public transport that have been identified by the community.

3.3.5 Financial performance
NHS Bexley CCG has had another very challenging year, financially, ending with an
in year-end deficit position of £9,940k and resulting in a breach to the statutory
breakeven duty in 2018/19. This is the second consecutive year that the CCG has
breached a statutory financial duty and has resulted in the CCG having a cumulative
deficit position of £14,805k which is the final ledger position shown for the year.
An in year deficit position of £14m had been forecast at month 7, both internally and
to external regulators. In subsequent months this position was improved to an in year
deficit of £10m due to a £1m improvement in the CCG position plus the receipt of
£3m of repayable mutual support from other SE London CCGs as part of the agreed
risk share arrangement. Therefore, the predicted position has been maintained
indicating robust financial management being in place.
As set out in the 2018/19 NHS planning guidance, CCGs were required to hold a
0.5% contingency which mitigated some of the in-year financial pressures. This was
the only funding available to the CCG to be used as mitigation against cost
pressures.
The CCG has successfully met all of its statutory financial duties with the exception
of the breakeven duty, as shown in the table below:
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Statutory duty

Achieve financial
balance on revenue
(programme and
running costs)
To remain within
running cost
allowance
Achieve 95% of
invoices being paid
within 30 days
(better payment
practice code)
Remain within
capital allocation
Remain within
minimum cash
draw down

Target

Variance

Achieved

£
£0

Actual
performance
£
£(9,940,000)

£
£(9,940,000)

No

£5,340,000

£4,131,000

£1,209,000

Yes

95%

3.73% by
number of
invoices
4.35% by
value of
invoices
0

Yes

£0

98.73% by
number of
invoices
99.35% by
value of
invoices
£0

£358,950,517

£358,078,201

£872,316

Yes

Yes

With effect from 1 April 2017, the CCG became responsible for primary medical
services for the borough of Bexley, under delegated authority from NHS England
(NHSE). Under this arrangement, the CCG commissions and pays for GP services
for the residents of Bexley. The CCG received an additional allocation of £29,321k to
undertake this function, against which there was a small overspend in year of £48k
due to a practice having caretaking arrangements in year which was a cost pressure
to the CCG.
The main financial challenges for the CCG during the year, contributing to the deficit
position, were:






acute over-performance – the CCG has seen significant growth beyond that
included in financial planning plus the CCG had a negative reserve in place to
fund the agreed Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust contract in year
increased demand for out of borough acute services
a continuation of increases in the numbers and complexity of continuing
healthcare clients
a shortfall in savings expected from the CCG’s quality, innovation, productivity
and prevention (QIPP) programme.

In 2018/19, there has been some mitigation to these challenges on a non-recurrent
basis, including the receipt of repayable mutual support of £3m from the agreed
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south east London risk share arrangement, but this was insufficient to prevent the
deficit position. The CCG has reported a £15m underlying deficit in 2018/19 which
impacts upon the ability in 2019/20 to deliver a breakeven position and so has meant
that the CCG has been issued a control total for next year of £7.5m deficit – this will
still prove to be a challenge for the organisation.
NHS Bexley CCG had a QIPP target of £15.9m in 2018/19, of which £12.7m had
identified schemes at the start of the year leaving £3.2m as unidentified. During the
year, the £3.2m was found via budget reviews and additional QIPP schemes going
live in year. At month 12, the QIPP achievement against the £15.9m was £9.03m
which equates to 56.7% which is much lower than the CCG has achieved in previous
years. The main reason for the slippage in year was a lack of traction on the
schemes identified as being collaborative across south east London. Many of these
schemes are now being developed following the formation of a Bexley, Greenwich
and Lewisham Project Management Office function in year which is working with the
acute Trusts to deliver QIPP schemes.
Please see the pie chart in the performance summary, starting on page 5, to find out
more about how money has been spent in 2018/19.
The CCG has continued to work with the London Borough of Bexley (LBB) to
maintain a robust Better Care Fund (BCF) during 2018/19, with the inclusion of the
additional improved Better Care Fund funding received by LBB. The focus of the
BCF has continued to be to reduce the level of delayed transfers of care from
hospital settings, which has proved to be very successful, with the Home
First/Discharge to Assess model being reviewed in year to improve the systems in
place. Work has continued on developing more integrated and alliance
commissioning between the CCG and LBB to ensure that the best value for each
Bexley pound spent is achieved; this work has included stakeholders from across the
borough, including providers and the voluntary sector.
During the year, the CCG has continued to work with the other south east London
CCGs, acute and mental health partners within the sustainability and transformation
partnership (STP), to implement plans designed to bring the health economy into
recurrent financial balance by 2020.
The CCG is not aware, at the time of writing this review, of any financial postbalance sheet events which would affect the accounts. However, following the
presentation of the NHS 10 Year Plan, there will be moves to change the structures
across south east London and so develop Integrated Care Systems within boroughs
and have one CCG for south east London. These arrangements will need to be in
place in line with the timescales required and south east London has a Director of
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Commissioning System Reform in place who is tasked with ensuring this is
delivered.
With effect from early February 2019, Bexley CCG and Greenwich CCG have been
sharing a management team including the Managing Director. This arrangement will
continue into 2019/20 and will also mean that there will be a change in the
arrangements for the Director of Finance as the current Director covering Greenwich
and Lewisham assumes responsibility for Bexley as well with effect from 1 April
2019. The Chief Finance Officer for south east London took up his post in February
2019 and oversees the financial position for Bexley CCG.
Forward look to 2019/20
The CCG will be financially challenged again in 2019/20, mainly due to the impact of
the substantial costs in 2018/19, that will continue, and the non-recurrent measures
utilised in the previous year. NHS England has given the CCG a control total of
£7.5m deficit to meet in 2019/20 and if this is achieved then the organisation will be
eligible for Commissioner Sustainability Funding of up to £7.5m if certain criteria are
met. If successful, this would mean that the CCG would deliver an in year breakeven
in 2019/20. It should be noted that this plan does not address the historic deficit
which is now £14.8m, it also assumes that there is mutual support available in year
from other south east London CCGs.
In order to deliver the £7.5m deficit position, the CCG requires a large QIPP
(savings) programme of at least £12.3m, which is 3.4% of the CCG’s allocation.
Whilst the CCG has submitted a plan which achieves the control total set to NHS
England, this includes an element of unidentified QIPP totalling £2.3m and a QIPP
risk of £3.1m. Work will continue to develop further QIPP and to de-risk existing
QIPP and progress will be reported to the appropriate committees.
In 2018/19, the south east London CCGs received additional QIPP support from
Deloittes, funded by NHS England, plus support from Attain, funded locally, in order
to assist in de-risking current QIPP schemes and to mobilise those and collaborative
QIPP schemes across the STP footprint. During 2018/19, a Bexley, Greenwich and
Lewisham Project Management Office was established to primarily work across the
Lewisham and Greenwich trust system and ensure that QIPP is coordinated and it is
expected that in 2019/20, the development and reporting of QIPP will be undertaken
by this new team.
For 2019/20 the south east London CCGs are working together to meet the STP
control total of £3.9m in-year deficit set by NHS England. The 2019/20 planning
submissions have been co-ordinated across SE London to ensure consistency in
treatment of items and to reflect the required method of working. The south east
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London CCGs will work together to ensure delivery with consideration of the south
east London risk share agreement which was agreed by Governing Bodies in
2018/19.
The planning guidance for 2019/20 required CCGs to negotiate one-year contracts
by March 2019, this process for both acute and mental health providers was coordinated by the Integrated Contracts and Delivery Team. The CCG has signed
contracts with its four main acute providers, with block arrangements in place for
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, Guy’s and St Thomas’s NHS Foundation
Trust, and King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, and a full payment by
results contract for Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust. Block contracts with Oxleas
NHS Foundation Trust and South London and Maudsley NHS Trust have also been
signed for the provision of mental health and community services.
The CCG has also needed to ensure that the underlying activity position, over and
above the 2018/19 contracts, which was funded using non-recurrent measures in
year, is included in 2019/20 envelopes. Whilst the CCG received additional funding
for growth in its revenue resource limit in 2019/20, there will remain a risk that this
has not been fully funded. The additional funding received by the CCG moves the
CCG to 0.79% over its target allocation.
As discussed above, the 2019/20 financial plan includes challenging QIPP targets
and work has been undertaken to review the Commissioning for Value/Right Care
packs and the Menu of Opportunities to ensure that all opportunities are explored.
The CCG also reviews other benchmarking tools and best practice from other
organisations in trying to identify additional QIPP opportunities. QIPP proposals were
included in the CCG’s commissioning intentions shared with providers and the CCG
continues to work with them to provide efficient, quality services to the population of
Bexley.
It should be noted that the health service is not the only public sector area under
financial pressure. The CCG will continue to work with the London Borough of
Bexley which also has another financially challenging year ahead. The impact of
health and social care requirements for an ageing population continues to grow in
the borough.
The level of financial risk to the CCG in 2019/20 remains at a high level at £13m
before mitigation and £8m post mitigation. The main risks continue to be acute overperformance, the new arrangements for delivery of musculoskeletal services,
delivery of the required QIPP, the continuation of the increase both in numbers and
acuity of continuing healthcare costs, increases in prescribing spend, pressures on
the reduced primary care budget and community demands. The CCG will take action
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as far as possible to mitigate this risk to deliver the planned breakeven position, but
has no reserves, with the exception of the mandated 0.5% contingency.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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4: Accountability report
4.1 Corporate governance report
The members’ report
NHS Bexley CCG is a membership led organisation. In 2018/19, this comprised of
24 representatives, one from each of the boroughs GP practices. These
representatives form the Primary Care Advisory Group (PCAG).
Practice
code

Practice partner

Practice address

The Westwood Surgery, 24 Westwood Lane, Welling, DA16 2HE
Barnard Medical Group, 43 Granville Road, Kent, DA14 4TA
Cairngall Medical Practice, 2 Erith Road, Kent, DA17 6EZ *
The Albion Surgery, 6 Pincott Road, Bexleyheath, DA6 7LP
Bellegrove Surgery, 174 Bellegrove Road, Kent, DA16 3RE
Northumberland Heath Med Centre, Hind Crescent, Erith, DA8
G83010 Dr S Kailey
3DB
Lakeside Medical Practice, Yarnton Way, London, SE2 9LH
G83018 Dr PK Anand
Ingleton Avenue Surgery, 84 Ingleton Avenue, Kent, DA16 2JZ
G83024 Dr R Gill
Welling Medical Practice, 2 Danson Crescent, Welling, DA16 2AT
G83025 Dr L Kailey
Bexley Group Practice, 76-78 Upper Wickham Lane, Welling,
G83028 Dr Nisha Nair
DA16 3HQ
Plas Meddyg Surgery, 40 Parkhill Road, Bexley, DA5 1HU
G83029 Dr R Schmalhorst
Little Heath, 55 Littleheath Road, Bexleyheath, DA7 5HL
G83033 Dr M Thavapalan
Bulbanks Medical Centre, 62 Battle Road, Kent, DA8 1BJ
G83037 Dr K Nandra
Bursted Wood Surgery, 219 Erith Road, Kent, DA7 6HZ
G83046 Clocktower Ltd
Station Road Surgery, 69 Station Road, Kent, DA15 7DS
G83047 Dr T Elsey
Lyndhurst Medical Practice, The Medical Centre, Barnehurst, DA7
G83049 Dr S Pyle
6DL
Belvedere Medical Centre, 15 Albert Road, Kent, DA17 5LQ
G83052 Dr V Bhalla
Bexley Medical Group, 171 King Harolds Way, Kent, DA7 5RF
G83053 Dr S Malone
Woodlands Surgery, 146 Halfway Street, Kent, DA15 8DF
G83057 Dr C Prior
Crook Log Surgery, 19 Crook Log, Bexleyheath, DA6 8DZ
G83061 Dr WK Kwan
Slade Green Medical Centre, 156 Bridge Road, Erith, DA8 2HS
G83062 Dr J Sharma
Sidcup Medical Centre, 2 Church Avenue, Sidcup, DA14 6BU
G83066 Dr SM Deshmukh
G83630 Dr Sushanta Bhadra Riverside Medical, Erith Health Centre, Erith, DA8 1RQ
G83642 Dr E Harris-Faulkner Crayford Town Surgery, Crayford Road, Kent, DA1 4EA
* Cairngall Practice closed on 31 March 2019
G83002
G83004
G83005
G83006
G83009

Dr J Moir
Dr H Hutson
Dr V Bhalla
Dr H Stoate
Dr WA Cotter
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The governing body
The governing body is made up of 15 voting member positions and nine attendees
who do not have voting rights. One of the voting member positions is filled by two
GPs on a joint basis. As at 31 March 2019, seven of the voting member positions
were elected to post by the clinical PCAG representatives.
The governing body comprises the following roles, as laid out in the CCG’s
constitution:












The chair who shall be a GP elected by the members
Three GP locality leads who shall be elected by the members
Three locality representatives who shall be elected by the members
A lay person with the qualifications, expertise or experience to express
informed views about audit and governance matters
A lay person who has knowledge about the area to enable them to express
informed views about the discharge of the CCG’s functions
A lay person with the qualifications, expertise or experience to express
informed views about legal and commercial/ procurement matters
One registered nurse
One secondary care specialist
The accountable officer
The chief financial officer
The CCG managing director

Additionally, the governing body includes the following attendees who fully
participate in governing body discussions but do not hold voting rights:
 The director of integrated commissioning
 The deputy managing director and director of quality
 The director of finance
 The director of primary care, information governance and IT
 The chief operating officer (joint post with Greenwich CCG)
 The director of commissioning development (joint post with Greenwich CCG)
 A local authority public health representative (co-opted)
 A local authority health and social care representative (co-opted)
 A representative from the patient council or equivalent body (co-opted)
One of the elected clinical positions is filled by two GPs on a joint basis.
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NHS Bexley CCG’s governing body profiles as of 31 March 2019
Dr Sid Deshmukh, chair
Dr Sid Deshmukh became chair of NHS Bexley CCG in February
2017 and has been a GP since 2002 and is senior partner of
Sidcup Medical Centre.
Sid is also the clinical lead for IT, leading key programmes of work
such as data sharing programmes. Sid has worked closely with
stakeholders to establish a successful nursing home network and
is also the clinical lead for dementia. Sid is also the CCG’s
Caldicott Guardian.
Keith Wood, lay member and deputy chair
Keith is a chartered accountant who achieved partner status in his
professional career before appointments as a director of finance in
both the private sector and latterly the NHS. He served as vice
chair of Bexley Care Trust until its dissolution on 31 March 2013,
having previously held appointments as a non-executive director
and audit committee chair in a number of local NHS bodies. Keith
has also been a treasurer/trustee of health related charities for a
number of years.
Dr Varun Bhalla, locality lead (North Bexley)
Dr Varun Bhalla has been a partner at Belvedere Medical Centre in
Bexleyheath for more than 20 years. Varun has also worked as a
police surgeon and occupational medical adviser for London
Borough of Greenwich.

Dr Jhumur Moir - locality lead (Clocktower)
Dr Moir is a partner at the Westwood Surgery in Welling. Her
primary care interests include women’s health (including
contraception and menopause), diabetes, palliative care and
training.
At the CCG, Dr Moir’s areas of responsibility include being the
clinical lead for diabetes and the Clocktower locality lead.
Dr Moir is also a GP trainer and appraiser and an out-of-hours GP.
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Dr Sonia Khanna-Deshmukh – locality lead (Frognal)
Dr Sonia Khanna-Deshmukh has been working at Sidcup Medical
Centre as a sessional GP since August 2010. She is a board
member of the South London Faculty (SLF) at the Royal College of
General Practitioners (RCGP) and has been an Education and
Support Event tutor for SLF RCGP.
Dr Clive Anggiansah – joint locality representative (North
Bexley)
Dr Anggiansah trained and qualified as a GP in Bexley and has
worked in the borough since 2007. He has been a GP at Lyndhurst
Medical Centre in Barnehurst since 2009.
As well as representing the north of the borough on the CCG’s
governing body, Dr Anggiansah is also a GP trainer, a clinical lead
for IT and chair of the medicines management sub-committee (a
sub-committee of the governing body).
Dr Anggiansah is passionate about developing the clinical
workforce to ensure Bexley residents receive high-quality, timely
and innovative care.
Dr Mehal Patel – joint locality representative (North Bexley)
Dr Mehal Patel has been a Bexley GP since 2010, and is currently
at the Lyndhurst Surgery. His clinical passions include reducing
health inequalities, preventing illness and encouraging children’s
health.
Dr Patel shares the north Bexley locality representative role with Dr
Clive Anggiansah.
Lisa Wilson – locality representative (Clocktower)
Lisa Wilson is the practice manager at the Albion Surgery in
Bexleyheath. The surgery cares for more than 14,000 Bexley
patients.
Lisa is also a practice representative on the CCG’s primary care
development group, which meets every fortnight to help to develop
and enhance the services provided by all GP practices across the
borough.
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Mark Burgess - locality representative (Frognal)
Mark Burgess is the practice manager at Plas Meddyg Surgery in
Bexley. The surgery cares for more than 7,000 patients and Mark
has been the manager there since June 2015.
Mark works closely with the surgery’s Patient Participation Group
and is a practice manager representative on the CCG’s primary
care development working group.
Paul Cutler – patient and public lay member
Paul Cutler is an experienced consultant, trainer and facilitator who
specialises in participation, public engagement and
communications. He works via his own consultancy organisation
for a variety of organisations in the private, public and voluntary
sectors across England. His work aims to help organisations build
strong and effective relationships with service users, community
groups and stakeholders to positively influence policy and practice.
Paul has lived in the borough of Bexley for more than 15 years and
has a strong commitment to the local community.
Neil Ross - lay member
Neil works as a barrister prosecuting and defending in criminal and
regulatory matters, with experience in dealing with fraud and
corruption in health care. He has served as an elected member of
the General Council of the Bar and the executive committee of the
Criminal Bar Association. Neil has a particular interest in mental
health, having read psychology at university. In his spare time, Neil
is the player manager of a Sunday league football team.
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara, secondary care specialist
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara joined the CCG’s governing body as
the secondary care doctor in July 2016.
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara is a consultant physician in
endocrinology and diabetes at London Northwest Healthcare NHS
Trust. His primary care interests include type one diabetes,
diabetes care for the young and integrated care diabetes.
Mary Currie, nurse
Mary began her career in the NHS over 30 years ago, training as a
registered nurse in London and qualifying in 1986. Since then she
has worked as a qualified nurse across the majority of acute
hospital specialties, and was appointed to one of the early wave
nurse consultant roles, specialising in cardiology at Bromley
Hospitals NHS Trust. Additionally, through completing training in
non-invasive cardiac diagnostic testing, she was the first nurse in
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the country to gain British Society of Echocardiography Adult
accreditation.
Andrew Bland, accountable officer
Andrew is currently the accountable officer for five CCGs in south
east London (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Southwark and
Lewisham). In December 2017, Andrew also became the south
east London Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)
lead.
Andrew has worked in the NHS in London for the last 15 years,
and the last nine years in south east London, where he was a
Primary Care Trust board executive before becoming the
Accountable Officer for NHS Southwark CCG since its inception in
2013. In addition to his CCG roles, Andrew is also the senior
responsible officer for primary care transformation across London s
part of the Healthy London Partnership.
Usman Niazi, chief finance officer
Usman commenced his role as chief finance officer (CFO) for five
of the south east London CCGs (Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich,
Lewisham and Southwark) in February 2019, having previously
worked at Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust since 2015, most
recently as Interim Director of Finance. Prior to that he was based
in the Ipswich and East Suffolk area, holding senior finance
positions in both the CCG and the acute trust.
Neil Kennett-Brown, managing director
Neil has been the managing director for NHS Bexley CCG since
February 2019, succeeding Theresa Osborne who has been
appointed as Director of Commissioning System Reform for south
east London. Neil is fulfilling this role jointly with his post as
managing director of NHS Greenwich CCG.
Neil has worked in the NHS for over 15 years in a variety of senior
commissioning roles, including London Ambulance Service,
leading large scale transformation programmes for NHS England
and CCGs in north east London.
Neil is an experienced senior change manager, and has previously
worked in the voluntary sector with refugees and asylum seekers,
and prior to that in the food industry, and quality and process
management in Japan.
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Michael Boyce, deputy managing director and director of
quality (non-voting)
Michael has spent 28 years working with the NHS across southeast London.
Michael is responsible for providing strategic advice to the CCG to
ensure the organisation commissions and maintains the highest
possible quality services, and delivers its ambition to secure the
best possible outcomes for local patients and their families.
Michael’s role also ensures the CCG acts in strict accordance with
the statutory role granted to CCGs by the Secretary of State and
that it operates in the most effective, efficient and ethical manner
possible.
Valerie Shanks-Pepper, director of integrated commissioning
(non-voting)
Valerie has more than 20 years of local government (adult social
care and joint commissioning), NHS (provider improvement and
national research and innovation policy) and private sector
experience.
In her previous role, Valerie was the deputy director/head of
research and innovation at NHS England. She was responsible for
delivering against NHS England’s statutory duties and mandate
objectives relating to research. Valerie also looked at the use of
evidence in commissioner decision-making and led the design and
execution of work to identify and prioritise research needs of NHS
commissioners.
As director for integrated commissioning, Valerie’s role is shared
between the CCG and London Borough of Bexley.
Nisha Wheeler, director of primary care (non-voting)
Nisha has spent nearly 20 years working with NHS Bexley CCG
and before that, Bexley Care Trust. Thanks to her extensive
experience in primary care facilitation and systems management,
she brings to the governing body a wide range of strategic
leadership skills with specific expertise in areas such as project
and change management and in transformational development.
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Malcolm Hines, director of finance (non-voting)
Malcolm’s current role is as Director of Finance for three CCGs in
south east London, including Bexley. He has been a Director in
Southwark since 2002, and previously worked at Board level in
Health Authorities and Trusts. He has 20 years of experience as a
NHS Finance Director.
Robert Shaw, joint chief operating officer (non-voting)
Robert has over 25 years experience within healthcare settings
spanning acute trusts, university research, mental health,
commissioning and regulator organisations.
He has worked on a range of national projects, as well as dealing
with the complexities of competing pressures across health and
local government.
Robert is working jointly across NHS Bexley and NHS Greenwich
CCGs to support the planned and unplanned care portfolios. He
has previously held the Winter Operational Director role for NHS
England, leading the delivery of operational and performance
management across East of England sub-regions for Urgent and
Emergency Care.
Virginia Morley, joint director of commissioning development
(non-voting)
Ginny is an experienced NHS leader and manager with more than
20 years of experience working with the health service and local
authorities, primarily in primary care, community services and
public health.
Her joint role across NHS Greenwich and NHS Bexley CCGs is to
develop services through the clinically-led commissioning strategy
and leading the Organisational Recovery Plan working closely with
the Governing Body. Previously, she led system-wide change
through commissioning in south west London. This enabled
provider capacity and capability, and ensured that patients
received high quality, efficient and appropriate care.
Ginny has wide experience in directing and leading sustainable
change across the whole health and social care system, and a
track record of innovative approaches and building on what is
already working in practice.
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Dr Anjan Ghosh, Director of Public Health (DPH) (non-voting)
Dr Anjan Ghosh has been the DPH for the London Borough of
Bexley since September 2017. Prior to this he was a consultant in
public health at London Borough of Merton.
He leads a public health team based in the council which is
responsible for the delivery of some key services such as sexual
health, health visiting and school nursing (0 to 19 services),
substance misuse, NHS Health Checks, lifestyle and weight
management, stop smoking services, mental and emotional
wellbeing for children, and health protection. He also leads on
various prevention programmes and oversees the development of
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).
Stuart Rowbotham, Director of Adult Social Care and Health
(non-voting)
Stuart was appointed as Director of Adult Social Care and Health
for London Borough of Bexley in January 2017, and is part the
local authority senior management team, with responsibility for
adult social services, health interface issues, development of
strategies and plans relevant to health and social care, and
delivery of integrated services. As such, he has shared
responsibility for the integrated commissioning team, who work
across both local authority and CCG workstreams, and are a key
component in the development of a close working relationship
between the local authority and CCG.
Vikki Wilkinson – patient council representative (non-voting)
Vikki Wilkinson is a member of the Governing Body in her capacity
as Deputy Chair of the Patient Council.
Vikki is also the Chief Executive of Bexley Voluntary Service
Council, steering the organisation to lead social prescribing in
Bexley, embed The Volunteer Centre as the “go to” place for
volunteering and raise the profile, value and influence of the
voluntary and community sector in Bexley. Vikki aims to bring the
voice of the voluntary sector and residents to the governing body.
Vikki has many years of experience in the voluntary sector and
local government (Westminster City Council, the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea and Hammersmith and Fulham) with a
background in children’s services, commissioning and mental
health.
Vikki’s two children keep her busy and she loves running and
reading.
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Register of interests
The CCG has a comprehensive conflicts of interest policy which aligns with NHS
England guidance. All governing body members, staff and committee members are
required to complete a declaration of interest on an annual basis, supplemented by a
six-monthly review.
A register of interests for governing body members is maintained by the CCG and is
publically
available
on
its
website
using
the
following
url:
http://www.bexleyccg.nhs.uk/Declarations_and_interests.htm

Personal data related incidents
No data security incidents have occurred in the year which required reporting to the
Information Commissioner’s office.

Statement of disclosure
At the time of completion of the members report, all members confirm that they are
not aware of any relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditor is unaware
that would be relevant for the purposes of the audit report. All members have taken
all steps that they ought to have taken in order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern slavery act
NHS Bexley CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the
financial year ending 31 March 2018 is published on our website at
http://www.bexleyccg.nhs.uk/Your-Services/safeguarding-adults-page.htm .
Bexley CCG is committed to ensuring that Modern Day Slavery has a high profile in
the health economy. In November 2017 the Governing Body ratified the Bexley
CCG website statement of commitment in accordance with the requirement of the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.

4.2 Statement of accountable officer’s
responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Andrew Bland to be the Accountable Officer for NHS Bexley CCG.
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The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,
Keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the
Accounts Direction),
Safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).










Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
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Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the
Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
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Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual
Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it
is fair, balanced and understandable.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below,
I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money, and in my CCG
accountable officer appointment letter.
Disclosures:
 The CCG spent £9.9 million in excess of the amount specified by the NHS
Commissioning Board for 2018/19. KPMG, external auditors, have referred
this matter to the Secretary of State under section 30(1)(b) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014.
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as accountable officer, I have taken
all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

4.3 Governance statement
NHS Bexley CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.
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As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.

Scope of responsibility
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.
I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance
statement.

NHS Bexley CCG’s governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
The constitution is a public document and sets out the CCG’s responsibilities for
commissioning care for its patients. It describes the governing principles, rules and
procedures the CCG has established to ensure probity and accountability in the dayto-day running of the CCG; to ensure that decisions are taken in an open and
transparent way and that of the interests of patients and the public remain central to
the aims of the group. It confirms:
 the group’s legal position (section 1.2)
 the group’s vision, mission, and values (section 4.1, 4.2, 4.3)
 the group’s membership and the decisions reserved to the membership (3.1,
6.5.1)
 how the membership relates to the group’s governing body (appendix C)
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the group’s leaders, their roles and how they are selected and are expected to
behave (appendix C)
the powers of the governing body, committees and individuals (6)
the group’s meeting arrangements (standing order 3)
the group’s prime financial policies (appendix E)

The constitution applies to all of the member practices; the group’s employees,
individuals working on behalf of the group and to anyone who is a member of the
CCG’s governing body or committees. The constitution can only be amended with
approval of NHS England.
Other key governance documents
 Standing orders
 Schemes of reservation and delegation
 Prime financial and accounting polices
 Committee terms of reference
 Nolan principles of public life
 NHS constitution
 Statement of public engagement
The diagram below shows the CCG governance structure and the interacting
committees:
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The Health and Social Care Act 2012 assigned specific functions on CCGs. In
Bexley, the Primary Care Advisory Group has delegated all matters, apart from a few
it has reserved for itself, to the governing body. The governing body is accountable
to the Primary Care Advisory Group. The delegated functions include:
 ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
CCG’s principles of good governance (its main function);
 determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to
employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and the
allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under
paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by Schedule 2 of
the 2012 Act;
 approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations;
 overseeing how the duty to promote a comprehensive health service is
discharged;
 leading the setting of vision and strategy;
 signing off the annual commissioning plan;
 overseeing how the duties are discharged;
 monitoring performance against plan;
 providing assurance of strategic risk;
 ensuring that the register of interests is reviewed regularly, and updated as
necessary;
 ensuring that all conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest are
declared
 annual approval of total allocations received and their proposed distribution;
 receipt of information on significant changes to the initial allocation and the
use of such funds;
 receipt and approval of the annual commissioning strategy/plan;
 approval of annual budgets prior to the start of the financial year;
 receipt and review of periodic finance reports detailing variance analysis
based on significant departures from agreed financial plans / budgets;
 approval of consultation arrangements for the CCG’s commissioning plan and
other strategic plans;
 approve the level of non-pay expenditure on an annual basis;
 the governing body shall have the authority to engage, employ or appoint any
consultant, employee or private contractor in order to facilitate the
performance of its duties. Such individuals may be present at any governing
body meetings at the discretion of the governing body but shall not be entitled
to any voting rights;
 the governing body shall have the authority to delegate any of its activities to a
subcommittee provided this is in line with the prime financial policies of the
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CCG. Such sub-committees shall be made up of either members of the
governing body, any consultants and/or employees approved by the
governing body

Voting arrangements
Voting on members’ reserved matters
Members’ votes: members have one vote per 2,000 patients on their list; members
(via the practice representative) will cast their votes at Primary Care Advisory Group
meetings, locality meetings and for their elected representative (locality leads,
locality representatives and the chair).
Voting in governing body/committees
Votes in governing body/committees operate on a one member*:one vote system.
Outcomes are based on a simple majority vote – the chair has a casting vote.
* Member of the governing body or committee as appropriate (not CCG member)
Expectations of governing body or committee members in general are:
Members
 Information sharing between practices and peer support
 Take collective responsibility for commissioning decisions and adhere to
decisions made by the CCG
 Take collective responsibility for balancing the budget and adherence to
decisions made by the CCG
Practice representatives
 Communication between the members, the localities, and the Primary Care
Advisory Group to enable proper consideration of members views to be taken
into account when the governing body makes decisions on behalf of the CCG
(and therefore on behalf of members)
 Voting on behalf of members
Locality leads and locality representatives
 Making decisions on behalf of the CCG at governing body (and other)
meetings
 Communication between the members, the localities, and the Primary Care
Advisory Group to enable proper consideration of members views to be taken
into account when the governing body makes decisions on behalf of the CCG
(and therefore on behalf of members)
 Voting on decisions
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Prime and sub-committee meetings of the CCG
The CCG’s governance handbook details the CCG’s committees and subcommittees structure which supports its governance. Each committee has a terms of
reference document which details information such as membership, meeting rules,
and the scope of the committee’s remit.
Audit committee – accountable to the CCG’s governing body, the audit committee
considers the integrity of the CCG’s financial statements, accounts and annual
report, and reviews the work of internal and external audit and any actions arising
from that work. This includes satisfying itself that the CCG has adequate
arrangements in place for countering fraud, ensuring robust security arrangements
are in place, and managing conflicts of interest which arise.
The audit committee is comprised of the following people in accordance with the
constitution:
Chair
Locality representatives from each
locality
Lay member
The secondary care specialist

Keith Wood
Dr Mehal Patel
Lisa Wilson
Mark Burgess
Neil Ross
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara

As part of the CCG’s audit committee terms of reference, the accountable officer and
other directors can be invited to attend the meetings, particularly when the
committee is discussing areas of risk or operation that are the responsibility of that
director. The accountable officer can be invited to attend the group at least annually
to discuss with the committee the process of assurance, which supports the
statement of internal control.
The audit committee, directors and GP membership have taken all necessary steps
to ensure that the auditors are aware of all information relevant to an external audit.
Integrated Governance and Performance committee - The committee is
established to oversee the activities of the CCG and its providers in respect of
finance, QIPP, performance, governance, risk management, quality and safety.
Associated with this, it is responsible for assuring the effective functioning of the
CCG’s operations in respect of safeguarding, information governance, equality
delivery system, emergency planning and business continuity, and patient
engagement and experience.
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The governing body has created five sub-committees, which report into the
integrated governance and performance committee to monitor and make decisions
on specific areas namely:
 Informatics and ICT steering group
 Quality and safety sub-committee
 Information governance sub-committee
 Medicines management sub-committee
 Health and safety sub-committee
A safeguarding committee and an engagement and patient experience working
group monitor and report on relevant issues to the quality and safety sub-committee.
Commissioning Strategy committee - The commissioning strategy committee is
responsible for overseeing the creation of a commissioning strategy to deliver the
CCG’s organisational objectives and improve patient outcomes, in the context of the
borough’s health strategy defined by the health and wellbeing board. It will achieve
this through considering commissioning developments and transformation proposals,
engaging with members and patient representatives to encourage engagement in
commissioning decision-making, and reviewing ideas generation, service
developments, business cases and proposals.
Remuneration and nominations committee – accountable to and makes
recommendations to the CCG’s governing body on determinations about the
remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees. The committee also makes
determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG may
establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. The governing body has
approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the remuneration and
nominations committee, including information on the membership.
Primary care commissioning committee – The committee has been established to
make decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care services in
Bexley, under delegated authority from NHS England. The committee comprises
representatives from the CCG, local medical committee, local authority, and
Healthwatch Bexley. It considers primary care related issues such as approval of
practice mergers, establishment of new practices in the area, design and monitoring
of GP contracts, and taking contractual action.
South east London committee in common – all six south-east London CCGs form
a committee in common to facilitate decision making across southeast London over
major strategic decisions (including the Our Healthier South East London
programme). Decisions are made by each of the CCG’s representatives within the
authority delegated to them by their CCG. Key issues are taken to the membership
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by the governing body of each CCG before they are considered by the committee in
common. The governing body reach a conclusion through its normal processes,
following its normal arrangements for testing with its membership. Decisions by the
committee in common require unanimity amongst the CCGs.
Meeting tables
The following tables reflect the attendance of members at each prime committee
meeting of the CCG which took place between April 2018 and March 2019.
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For more information about the highlights of the work undertaken by the CCG’s
committees, please refer to meeting minutes, available on the CCG’s website.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code are not
mandatory for public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be good practice.
This governance statement is intended to demonstrate the clinical commissioning
group’s compliance with the principles set out in the Code.

Discharge of statutory duties
In the light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the clinical
commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred
on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning
group is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions.
The audit and integrated assurance committee on behalf of the governing body has
undertaken a review of compliance with its statutory obligations. The CCG considers
itself compliant.
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In addition, the CCG has put in place an internal audit service to regularly provide
independent feedback on the CCG’s ability to meet its statutory functions. The
internal auditors during 2018/19 were RSM Tenon.

NHS Bexley CCG’s risk management framework
The risk and control framework
The CCG recognises the importance of good risk management as an integral part of
its approach. Risk is an inevitable part of managing healthcare but it must be
managed in such a way that the impacts of commissioning decisions can be properly
understood before they are made. This reflects the way members, in their clinical
roles, make judgements about good patient care day-in, day-out.
The CCG accordingly adopts a balanced and proportionate approach to risk
management that is substantively robust whilst not unnecessarily bureaucratic. Such
an approach seeks to balance the CCG's obligations to exercise its functions safely,
effectively, efficiently and economically, with its duties to drive improvements in
services, promote innovation, and reduce inequalities. This will enable the CCG to
deliver high-quality clinical care to all patients, within resources available.
Key to this aim is effective:
 Identification of risks
 Analysis and evaluation of risk
 Planning the response and managing the risk
 Recording and reviewing the risk
The framework broadly combines a ‘top down’ approach of the board assurance
framework to identify strategic risks and a ‘bottom up’ approach to identify
operational risks. Both strategic and operational risks are assigned risk owners and
risk sponsors who are accountable for delivering the mitigating actions in relation to
the risk. Risk registers are reviewed regularly by corporate committees and meetings
are held with individual risk owners to challenge the assessment of risk and the
progress of the mitigating actions to reduce the CCG’s exposure.
The Deputy Managing Director and Director of Quality is responsible for the risk
management process, but it is recognised by the governing body as a whole to be a
key area of focus. The CCG has a dedicated governance and risk manager to
support the organisation in capturing and recording risks.
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At a recent internal audit, the auditors reported that they received substantial
assurance from the CCG’s risk processes and reporting.
NHS Bexley CCG’s internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It
is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The governing body has approved the overall process for risk management in the
CCG. New and potential risks are highlighted to the governing body and its
committees by a dedicated area on the ‘front sheet’ of any board and committee
report. In addition, project risks are captured in the business case development
process. Equality impact assessments, quality impact assessments and privacy
impact information assessments are a core part of the development of any business
case. The assessments are reviewed as part of the approval process.
Incident reporting from the providers are an integral part of the quality report to the
governing body, together with patient insights and member quality alerts. Internal
incidents are managed through the executive management committee or appropriate
sub-committee.
Risks are discussed openly at governing body meetings held in public. Furthermore,
the patient council discusses and makes recommendations on service redesign and
other work of the CCG and are able to comment on, or highlight, risks to the officers.
The patient council is represented on the governing body and is therefore, able to
ensure that recommendations from the patient council have been addressed in the
final decision making forum.
The highest risks for the CCG as at 31 March 2019, receiving a risk score of 15 or
above, using the AS/NZS 4360:1999 risk management standard scoring matrix, are
shown in the table below:
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Approach to fraud, corruption and bribery
NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) is the national body leading on work to
protect NHS staff and resources from crime.
The CCG has developed an organisational culture that supports a zero tolerance
approach to fraud, bribery and corruption, supported by the anti-fraud, bribery and
corruption policy in place. It has appointed a local counter fraud specialist who has
carried out training on fraud and corruption for all staff during the year. The CCG
takes fraud, corruption and bribery extremely seriously and has made this training
mandatory for all staff.
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The CCG contracts an accredited counter fraud specialist to provide the full range of
anti-crime work that is proportionate to the risks identified and is fully compliant with
the NHS standards for commissioners. The annual work-plan is developed from risks
identified through the counter fraud risk assessment and discussions with key staff
within the CCG. The annual work-plan is agreed and progress is regularly reviewed
with the managing director and ratified by the audit committee. The committee
reviews the results of the CCG annual self-assessment against the NHS counter
fraud standards for commissioners and monitors progress on remedial actions
against areas of non-compliance or following an NHS Protect quality inspection.
The governance statement is prepared by officers of the CCG, and is evidencebased. Assumptions are challenged by the managing director and finance director
during the development of the statement.
The audit committee is then asked to review the statement and annual report before
it is presented to the membership for adoption.

Conflicts of interest
Management of conflicts of interest is a high priority area for the CCG. The CCG has
conducted an internal audit on conflicts of interest during 2018/19, carried out by
RSM Tenon. This audit gave an assessment of reasonable assurance, and was
helpful in enabling the CCG to identify a small handful of areas where improvements
could be made to strengthen the CCG’s management of conflicts of interest.

Information governance
The NHS information governance framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about individuals, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is supported by
the annual submission of the Data Security and Protection Toolkit. The toolkit
provides a mechanism for organisations to demonstrate that they can be trusted to
maintain the confidentiality and security of personal information. It measures the
CCG’s compliance against law and central guidance to ensure information is
handled correctly and protected from unauthorised access, loss, damage and
destruction.
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust information
governance systems and processes in place to help protect individuals and
corporate information. A robust information governance management framework has
been established and all information governance processes and procedures are in
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line with the Data Security and Protection toolkit. The CCG ensures all staff
undertake annual information governance training and have an information
governance awareness programme to ensure staff are aware of their information
governance roles and responsibilities.
The CCG has enhanced its management of the information security requirements of
the Data Security and Protection toolkit with respect to cyber security by
implementing robust monitoring processes to identify potential cyber-threats and
work closely with NHS Digital CareCert to ensure the relevant security mechanisms
are deployed within the CCG and its member practices. The CCG ensures any
actions required are undertaken to resolve and/or mitigate the threat.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. The CCG has an incident management and risk management framework
in place to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the organisation
against identified risks.

Business critical models
NHS England recognises the importance of quality assurance across the full range
of its analytical work. In partnership with analysts in the Department of Health, the
CCG has developed an approach that is fully consistent with the recommendations
in Sir Nicholas Macpherson’s review of quality assurance of government models.
The framework includes a programme of mandatory workshops for NHS England
analysts, which highlights the importance of quality assurance across the full range
of analytical work.
The Macpherson Report on the review of quality assurance (QA) of government
analytical models set out the components of best practice in QA making eight key
recommendations.
In 2018/19, the CCG has continued to work with other CCGs and NHS providers in
south-east London, through the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP),
to develop the business and financial modelling for the five year strategic plan. The
modelling is led through the south-east London PMO and reports back to the southeast London finance leads group. The group includes directors of finance and chief
financial officers from all organisations within the STP. The group is chaired by the
director of financial strategy for South East London Commissioning Alliance, who
acts as the senior responsible officer for the development of the model. The output of
the financial modelling is reviewed by a varied number of stakeholders from different
disciplines, both internal and external, and underpins the modelling of the impacts of
service changes over the next five years.
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NHS Bexley CCG has developed a number of financial models and governance
processes, which underpin the local financial planning, QIPP delivery, procurement
and service transformation. The chief financial officer and directors of finance ensure
that there are effective processes underpinning the modelling, including appropriate
guidance, documentation and training, as well as sharing best practice. This includes
ensuring that appropriate assurance processes are in place to ensure the robustness
of any modelling. The audit committee ensures that the appropriate governance is in
place.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of
resources
The CCG has robust financial management processes and procedures in place,
which are overseen by the combined efforts of the audit committee and integrated
governance and performance committee. Detailed financial reports are presented to
the integrated performance and governance committee and governing body, where
there is robust questioning and challenge regarding the information included.
Monthly headline briefings are also presented to each of the CCG’s three locality
meetings, at which the CCG’s practice members are present. A detailed report on
financial systems is presented annually to the audit committee to provide further
assurance.
NHS Bexley CCG has a scheme of delegation in place.
Meetings from all of the CCG’s sub-committee are sent to the superior committee. A
summary of the notes from each sub-committee meeting is also presented at the
governing body meeting in public.
All decisions made outside of the governing body are reported on at the governing
body in public and taken to the audit committee for oversight.

Losses and Special Payments
No losses (for example, overpayments or physical losses) have been incurred, or
special payments made, by the CCG in the financial year.

4.4 Head of internal audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the head of internal audit issued an independent and objective
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opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s
system of risk management, governance and internal control. The head of internal
audit opinion is included below.
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4.5 Review of effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me, including the CCG’s ratings shown on My NHS and
targets achieved within the Improvement and Assessment Framework. My review is
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter
and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal
objectives have been reviewed.
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I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the governing body, the audit
committee and quality and safety committee, if appropriate and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.

Conclusion
There were no significant internal control issues identified.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

4.6 Remuneration and staff report
This section includes information on the remuneration of the CCG’s senior directors
and governing body members, together with information on the workforce of the
CCG.
Information on director remuneration, pensions, exit packages and the analysis of
staff numbers and costs is auditable and will be reviewed by external audit to ensure
it is consistent with the information included in the financial statements.

Remuneration committee
The remuneration committee comprises of four members and has met on six
occasions during the past year. The chair of the committee is governing body lay
member for governance, Keith Wood. A full list of members, their roles and the
number of meetings each attended is below.
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List of attendance 2018/19

The committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent
advice regarding pay structures.

Senior managers
Senior managers’ performance related pay
The CCG does not have a policy of performance related pay for senior managers.
Senior managers’ service contracts
Directors are appointed in line with HR policies and procedures.
The CCG’s policy concerning senior managers’ contracts is that they are awarded in
accordance with the terms and conditions nationally agreed through Agenda for
Change, or the ‘very senior manager framework’ which enables local remuneration
committees to agree salary rates for Very Senior Manager graded staff. This is
informed by the work of the Senior Salaries Review Body whose influence includes
the Department of Health and Social Care’s arms length bodies, such as NHS
England.
Payments to past senior managers
No awards have been made to past senior managers during 2018/19.
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Senior managers’ 2018/19 salaries and allowances (audited)
Name and title

Salary &
Fees

Andrew Bland, accountable
officer *
Theresa Osborne, managing
director (to 10 February 2019)
Valerie Shanks-Pepper, director
of integrated commissioning
Michael Boyce,deputy managing
director & director of quality
Nisha Wheeler, director of
primary care, IG and IT
Usman Niazi, chief financial
officer (from February 2019)**
Malcolm Hines, acting chief
financial officer (to February
2019 then director of finance) ***
Dr Varun Bhalla, North Bexley
GP locality lead
Dr Siddarth Deshmukh,
Chair
Dr Jhumur Moir,
Clocktower locality lead
Dr Sonia Khanna-Deshmukh,
Frognal locality lead
Dr Clive Anggiansah, joint North
Bexley locality representative
Dr Mehal Patel, joint North
Bexley locality representative
Lisa Wilson, Clocktower locality
representative
Mark Burgess, Frognal locality
representative
Keith Wood, audit committee
chair
Mary Currie
registered nurse
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara,
secondary care doctor
Neil Ross,
lay member
Paul Cutler,
lay member
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Taxable
Benefits

Annual

All Pension
Related
Benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

0

Long-term
Performance
Related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

0

25-30

Performance

Related
Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000
25-30

(rounded to
the nearest
£00)
£
0

105-110

0

0

0

57.5-60.0

165-170

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

105-110

0

0

0

45.0-47.5

150-155

105-110

0

0

0

40.0-42.5

145-150

0-5

200

0

0

0

0-5

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

90-95

0

0

0

0

90-95

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

10-15

600

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15
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Senior managers’ 2017/18 salaries and allowances (audited)
Name and title

Dr Nikita Kanani, chief clinical
officer (until 4/02/18)
Theresa Osborne, chief financial
officer and chief operating officer
Sarah Valentine, director of
commissioning (until 27/04/17)
Mike Procter, interim director of
commissioning (24/04/1716/02/18)
Valerie Shanks-Pepper, director
of integrated commissioning
(from 15/02/18)
Michael Boyce, director of
governance, quality and
performance
Nisha Wheeler, director of
primary care
Dr Varun Bhalla, North Bexley
GP locality lead
Dr Siddarth Deshmukh, Frognal
GP locality lead (until 31/12/17)
and chair
Dr Jhumur Moir, Clocktower
locality lead
Dr Sonia Khanna-Deshmukh,
Frognal locality representative
(until 31/12/17) and Frognal
locality lead (from 01/01/18)
Tina Khanna,
North Bexley locality
representative (until 30/09/17)
Dr Clive Anggiansah,
joint North Bexley locality
representative (from 1/10/17)
Dr Mehal Patel,
joint North Bexley locality
representative (from 1/10/17)
Lisa Wilson
Clocktower locality
representative
Keith Wood, audit committee
chair
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Taxable
Benefits
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Benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£2,500)
£000

0

Long-term
Performance
Related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

(bands of
£5,000)
£000
115-120

(rounded to
the nearest
£00)
£
0

0

(bands of
£5,000)
£000
115-120

115-120

0

0

0

35-37.5

150-155

10-15

0

0

0

2.5-5

15-20

195-200
Paid to
agency
15-20

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

195-200
Paid to
agency
15-20

95-100

0

0

0

55-57.5

155-160

100-105

0

0

0

47.5-50

150-155

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

55-60

0

0

0

0

55-60

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

30-35

0

0

0

0

30-35

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15
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Mary Currie
registered nurse
Dr Koteshwara Muralidhara,
secondary care doctor
Neil Ross,
lay member
Paul Cutler,
lay member

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Neil Kennett-Brown was appointed as Managing Director from 10 February 2019 in
addition to his existing role as Managing Director of NHS Greenwich CCG. This
arrangement also means that the management teams of NHS Greenwich CCG and
NHS Bexley CCG will be shared across the two CCGs. No recharge of costs have
been made in 2018/19 in respect of these arrangements and so all costs relating to
Neil Kennett-Brown and the NHS Greenwich CCG management team are shown as
part of NHS Greenwich CCG’s annual report as they are the principal employer.
From 01/04/2019, NHS Greenwich CCG will be recharging a proportion of the salary
of those involved to NHS Bexley CCG.
* Andrew Bland has been the Accountable Officer for Southwark CCG since April
2013, and for Greenwich CCG since September 2017. He has fulfilled the role of
Accountable Officer for Bexley CCG since 5 February 2018, and for Lewisham and
Bromley CCGs since 1 April 2018. His total salary for the year for these NHS roles
was £140-145k, expenses £200, and pension related benefits £0k. Corresponding
entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
** Usman Niazi was appointed as the South East London Chief Financial Officer and
he took up post in February 2019. His total salary for the part of the year for these
NHS roles was £15-20k, expenses £nil, and pension related benefits £nil.
Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
*** Malcolm Hines has been Director of Finance for Bexley, Bromley and Southwark
CCG’s for the entire financial year. In addition, from 1 April 2018 until February 2019,
he assumed the role of Acting Chief Financial Officer for these CCGs. His total
salary for the year for these NHS roles was £125-130k, expenses £28, and pension
related benefits £nil. Corresponding entries are shown in the other CCG accounts.
Only the Bexley proportion of these three officers’ salaries and other costs are
included in the Bexley Remuneration report table above.
Based on the senior managers included in the table above, the CCG has seven
directors who are in pay bands Very Senior Management (VSM) or Agenda for
Change (AfC) band nine, the other senior members in the table above are on-spot
salary scales.
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The CCG did not employ any interims in 2018/19 who were paid over £900 per day.
Taxable benefits are payments made to employees via payroll for ad hoc expenses
such as mobile phones, certain mileage payments etc which, under the rules of
HMRC, the employee must pay income tax for.
The ‘all pension related benefits’ column only applies to those receiving pension
contributions. The amount included comprises all pension related benefits, including:
 The cash value of payments (whether in cash or otherwise) in lieu of
retirement benefits;
 All benefits in year from participating in pension schemes;
 For defined benefit schemes, the amount included is the annual increase in
pension entitlement determined in accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method. In
summary the increase = ((20 x PE) +LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB)
Where:
PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the director if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable
to the director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial
year
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the director if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable
to the director if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial
year.
No ‘Golden Hellos’ have been paid to senior managers during 2018/19.
No payments have been made to any senior managers during the financial year for
loss of office.
Senior managers’ pension benefits (audited)
Note: This table is only for senior managers disclosed in the salaries and allowances
table who are part of the NHS pension scheme:
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Senior managers’ pension benefits (2018/19)

Name and
Title
Andrew Bland,
Accountable
Officer
Theresa
Osborne,
managing
director
Usman Niazi,
Chief Finance
Officer
Michael
Boyce, deputy
managing
director &
director of
quality
Nisha
Wheeler,
director of
primary care,
IG & IT

Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age (bands
of £2,500)
£000

0-2.5

0

2.5-5.0

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2019 (bands
of £5,000)
£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March
2019 £000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March
2018
£000

Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
£000

30-35

65-70

444

374

41

0

2.5-5.0

40-45

105-110

888

717

112

0

0-2.5

0

20-25

0

199

127

8

0

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

20-25

40-45

385

294

67

0

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

55-60

458

358

82

0

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2018 (bands
of £5,000)
£000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March
2018 £000

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March
2017
£000

Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value
£000

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension
£000

Senior managers’ pension benefits (2017/18)

Name and
Title

Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age (bands
of £2,500)
£000

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension
£000

Sarah
Valentine,
director of
commissioning
(until 27/4/17)
Theresa
Osborne, chief
financial
officer and
chief operating
officer

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

45-50

140-145

943

864

69

0

2.5-5.0

0-2.5

35-40

100-105

717

657

52

0

Michael
Boyce,
director of
governance
quality and
performance

2.5-5.0

(5.0)-(2.5)

10-15

35-40

292

229

60

0
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Nisha
Wheeler,
director of
primary care

2.5-5.0

2.5-5.0

20-25

50-55

358

311

43

Mr Malcolm Hines and Ms Valerie Shanks-Pepper are not in the pension scheme
and so are not shown in the above table.
Mr Andrew Bland and Mr Usman Niazi held their SEL positions throughout the period
and from February 2019 respectively. As the pension disclosure represents an
actuarial valuation of their future benefits these have not been allocated across
CCG’s, but are included in full in each set of financial statements where they have
received remuneration.
Mr Neil Kennett-Brown held the role of Managing Director from February 2019 but
Greenwich CCG did not recharge for his salary for the period until the end of March
2019 and so no disclosures are shown in 2018/19. However, recharge arrangements
will be in place for financial year 2019/20.
GP members of the governing body are office holders, but are not deemed as
employees of the CCG. The posts are therefore not pensionable.
NHS organisations are required to disclose the pension benefits for those persons
disclosed as senior managers of the organisation, where the clinical commissioning
group has made a direct contribution to a pension scheme. Due to the nature of
clinical commissioning groups, some GPs have served as office holders of NHS
Bexley CCG. However, for GPs who work under a contract for services with the
CCG, they are not considered to hold a pensionable post and so no pension
disclosure is required. From 1 April 2013, NHS England became the employing
agency for all types of GPs and pensions contributions have been made by NHS
England rather than the CCG. Where fees for service have been paid directly to a
GP practice, the practice is the employing agency and not the CCG.
No lump sum is shown for senior managers who only have membership in the 2008
scheme unless they chose to move their 1995 Section benefits under Choice. This is
because there is no entitlement to a lump sum payment in the 2008 pension section.

Staff report
The section below provides details on the CCG’s workforce, and is subject to audit.
Staff composition and costs (audited)
The CCG workforce, excluding non-executive members, is made up of staff banded
as follows (as at 31 March 2019):
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0

Band

Number
of staff

9
8d
8c
8b
8a

3
5
9
8
10

Number
of staff
(WTE)
3
5
8.5
7.8
8.54

Band

Number
of staff

7
6
5
4
3

14
9
8
3
1

Number
of staff
(WTE)
13
7.8
7.13
2.6
1

In addition, three staff are paid via the CCG payroll who are on secondment or
appointed to other NHS organisations and the CCG is therefore funded for their
salaries.
A breakdown of the gender composition of the governing body is provided below.
Staff costs (which have been audited) are
shown in the table below:

2018-19

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Total

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

3,891
410
477
4
4,782

3,573
410
477
4
4,464

318
0
0
0
318

Pay multiples (audited)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the financial year 2018/19
was £105k-£110k (2017/18: £115k-£120k). This was 2.2 times (2017/18: 2.6 times)
the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £49k (2017/18: £47k).
In 2018/19 (and 2017/18), zero employees received remuneration in excess of the
highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £17k to £110k (2017/18: £15k to
£121k).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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The highest paid director in 2017/18 was the Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer who left the CCG for a secondment within 2018/19. Therefore the
highest paid director in 2018/19 was the Director of Primary Care, IG and IT.

Off-payroll engagements
i) Off payroll engagements longer than 6 months
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months are as follows:
The CCG confirms that all existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at
some point been subject to a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is
required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary,
that assurance has been sought.

Total number of existing engagements as of 31/03/19
Of which, the number that have existed:
For less than one year at the time of reporting
For between one and two years at the time of reporting
For between two and three years at the time of reporting
For between three and four years at the time of reporting
For four or more years at the time of reporting

Number
0
0
0
0
0
0

The CCG takes the following action to assure itself that off-payroll engagements pay
the correct tax and National Insurance (NI):
 Contractors are employed via an employment agency, where tax and NI is
deducted at source, wherever possible
 Where engagements are for self-employed contractors or via Limited
companies evidence of not just ESI but also records of tax registration and NI
payment, i.e. compliance via IR 35 and agency/limited company contract
agreements in line with guide below according to individual status are
requested.
ii) New off payroll engagements
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
Of which:
Number assessed as caught by IR 35
Number assessed as not caught by IR 35
Number engaged directly and on departmental payroll
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Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/ assurance
purposes during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the
consistency review

0
0

iii) Off payroll engagements of senior staff
Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of membership body and/or
governing body members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, during the financial year
Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘membership body and/or
governing body members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility’, during the financial year (this figure includes
both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements)

0

0

Exit packages (audited)
The CCG made no exit package payments in 2018/19.
Staff numbers (audited)
The average number of employees at NHS Bexley CCG from 1 April 2018 to 31
March 2019 was 65.

Sickness absence data
NHS Bexley CCG’s sickness absence percentage rate is presented monthly to the
executive team.
The HR business partner (from the NEL Commissioning Support Unit) works closely
with managers to ensure that sickness absence cases are being managed in a
timely way and in accordance with the CCG’s sickness absence policy.
An Occupational Health (OH) service is available to provide professional medical
advice to the CCG. Staff can access OH for a self-referral and can access the OH
counselling service.
The CCG also has access to an employee assistance programme, offering unlimited
confidential access to emotional and practical support, including legal and financial
advice.

Introduction

Performance summary

Performance analysis

Accountability report

Annual accounts

114

Sickness absence data for NHS Bexley CCG for the 2018 calendar year is detailed
below. These are the published statistics which are produced using data from the
NHS Digital Employee Staff Record (ESR) data warehouse:
Average FTE*

Total FTE* days sick

68.1
* FTE = full time equivalent

Average annual sick
days per FTE*

628

5.7

Staff policies & employee relations
Staff policies
The CCG maintains a suite of staff policies to support staff and provide guidance on
HR matters. Policies in place in the year included:
 Family friendly policy: shared parental leave
 Family friendly policy: adoption leave
 Family friendly policy: Maternity policy and procedure
 Family friendly policy: parental leave
 Flexible working policy
 Managing attendance and sickness absence policy and procedure
 Rebanding policy
 Training and development policy
 Annual leave and special leave policy
 Alcohol, drugs and substance misuse policy
 Conflicts of Interest policy
 Security policy
 Gifts and Hospitality policy
 Organisational change policy
 Policy in relation to terms and conditions for members of the Governing Body
All staff have access to organisational policies via the CCG’s electronic document
repository system.
Workforce development
Staff development is actively encouraged within the CCG, and is a key consideration
in the staff appraisal system. The CCG employs both internal training methods, such
as running informal “Lunch and learn” update sessions run by staff members for staff
members, and externally accredited workshops aimed at upskilling staff.
Staff are asked to contribute to the strategic direction of the CCG, and through
monthly staff briefings questions can be raised directly with the executive team and
other colleagues. The CCG is using the results of its staff survey, and learning from
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its participation in the Commissioning Capabilities Programme, to inform the CCG’s
organisational development programme. The CCG transformation strategy
recognises that workforce development is a key enabler in the delivery of the
organisation’s key areas for action.
Disabled employees
Disabled employees are protected under the ‘protected characteristics’ of the
Equality Act 2010, one of which is disability. The CCG’s equal opportunities policy
confirms that the CCG will ensure that the requirements and reasonable adjustments
necessary for employees with disabilities are taken into account during their
employment and that people with disabilities are not discriminated against on the
ground of their disability at any stage of the recruitment process or in their
employment with the CCG.
The CCG's sickness absence policy confirms that where an employee becomes
disabled as a result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable
adjustments, as required, and in accordance with the Equality Act to enable the
employee to return to work. The types of adjustments may include adjustments to
work base, working hours, redeploying the employee to another suitable position and
providing any necessary equipment to assist the employee to perform their role.
NHS Bexley CCG
staff composition
disability graph as
at 31 March 2019

Staff
registered as
disabled

Staff non
registered as
disabled

Health & Safety
The CCG takes its health and safety responsibilities to its staff and visitors very
seriously. A sub-committee of the integrated governance and performance
committee is in place to consider any health and safety issues and provide
assurance that the organisation is compliant with requirements. The CCG works in
close collaboration with the London Borough of Bexley health and safety team to
share information and knowledge, with a representative from the local authority team
on the CCG’s health and safety sub-committee.
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Expenditure on consultancy and contingent labour
The CCG has spent a total of £162k on consultancy in the year, principally relating to
QIPP/Project Management Office support and review of Continuing Healthcare
cases by an independent consultant. Expenditure of £318k was incurred on nonpermanent staff (contingent labour) costs.
Pension liabilities
For more information about pension liabilities, please see the remuneration
information above.
The gender and ethnicity of staff and the governing body
The governing body comprises of 25 members as at 31 March 2019. Of the 25
members, there are 16 voting members and nine non-voting members. As at 31
March 2019, one member post (North Bexley locality representative) is jointly filled
by two GPs.
Of the voting members, 33 per cent are female. Of the non-voting members, 44 per
cent are female. Thirty-two per cent of the total governing body membership is
female.
Of the 16 voting member posts, 50 per cent are from Black and Minority Ethnic
(BME) communities. Of the nine non-voting members, 22 per cent are from BME
communities. Forty per cent of the total governing body membership is from BME
communities.
The gender composition of NHS Bexley CCG staff (excluding non-executive
members and clinical leads) as of 31 March 2019 was as follows:

Executive directors
Other staff
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1
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2
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The ethnicity make-up of NHS Bexley CCG staff as of 31 March 2019 is as follows:
A White - British
C White - Any other White
background
D Mixed - White & Black Caribbean
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani

K Asian or Asian British Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other
Asian background
M Black or Black British Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
R Chinese
Z Not Stated

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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NHS BEXLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING
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Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) (the NHS Act 2006) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) shall
have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed Andrew Bland to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Bexley CCG.

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable;
Keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the CCG and enable
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction);
For safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities);
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the NHS Act
2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
Under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each CCG to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the CCG and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and cash flows
for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting
Manual and in particular to:
Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply
suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and take personal responsibility for the
Annual Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money, and in my Clinical Commissioning Group
accountable officer appointment letter.
Disclosures:
The CCG spent £9.9 million in excess of the amount specified by the NHS Commissioning Board for 2018/19. KPMG, external auditors
have referred this matter to the Secretary of State under section 30(1)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
I also confirm that as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as
accountable officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING
BODY OF NHS BEXLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group (“the CCG”)
for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows, and the related notes, including the accounting policies in note one.
In our opinion the financial statements:


give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of its income
and expenditure for the year then ended; and



have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS
Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as being relevant to CCGs in
England and included in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2018/19.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities under, and are independent of the CCG in accordance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
Going concern
The Accountable Officer has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they
have not been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the
transfer of its services to another public sector entity. They have also concluded that there are no
material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt over its ability to continue as a going
concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern
period”).
We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of
accounting is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the financial
statements. In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions we considered the inherent
risks to the CCG’s operations, including the impact of Brexit, and analysed how these risks might
affect the CCG’s financial resources, or ability to continue its operations over the going concern
period. We have nothing to report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG
will continue in operation.
Other information in the Annual Report
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report
together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the
financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information. In our opinion the other information included in the Annual
Report for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements.
Annual Governance Statement
We are required to report to you if the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with guidance
issued by the NHS Commissioning Board. We have nothing to report in this respect.
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Remuneration and Staff Report
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2018/19.
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 75, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view. They are also responsible for:
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the CCGs ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body
of the intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an
auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS
Opinion on regularity
We are required to report on the following matters under Section 25(1) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
The CCG reported a deficit of £9.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 thereby breaching its
duty under the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by paragraph 223I of Section 27 of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012, to break even on its commissioning budget.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if the CCG has not made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Qualified conclusion
Except for the matters outlined in the basis for qualified conclusion paragraph below we are satisfied
that in all significant respects NHS Bexley CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Basis for qualified conclusion
In reviewing the arrangements for sustainable resource deployment, we considered the financial
outturn of the CCG. The CCG incurred expenditure of £9.9 million in excess of its revenue resource
limit of £349.0 million.
The CCG planned to not exceed its revenue resource limit by breaking even for the year ended 31
March 2019. The over spend is driven by increased activity at acute providers, reduced delivery of its
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programme and growth in Continuing Health
Care clients. For the year ending 31 March 2020, the CCG have a planned deficit of £7.5 million. This
planned position includes support through local risk share arrangement. Subject to various conditions
achieving the planned deficit position will enable the CCG to receive £7.5m of Commissioner
Sustainability Funding to achieve a break-even position.
This evidences challenges in the CCG having proper arrangements in place for planning finances
effectively to support the sustainable delivery of strategic priorities and maintaining statutory
functions.
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Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources
As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 75, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
ensuring that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically. We are
required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the
CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCGs
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources are
operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General (C&AG) in November 2017, as to
whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and
deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. We
planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice and related guidance. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
Statutory reporting matters
We are required by Schedule 2 to the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General (‘the Code of Audit Practice’) to report to you if:


we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or



we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or



we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
On 17 May 2019 we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30(1)(b) of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group breaching
its revenue resource limit for the year ended 31 March 2019.
We have nothing else to report in these respects.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Bexley CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Members of the Governing Body, as a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we
have formed.
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Bexley CCG in accordance with
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Richard Hewes
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London, E14 5GL
28 May 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2019

Note

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(5,966)
(5,966)

(4,183)
(2,493)
(6,676)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

4,782
359,538
103
58
391
364,872

4,806
343,675
65
167
301
349,014

358,906

342,338

Comprehensive Expenditure for the financial year

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2019

Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets

2018-19

2017-18

£'000

£'000

8

291
291

394
394

9
10

2,309
82
2,391

2,741
144
2,885

2,682

3,279

(29,987)
(275)
(30,262)

(29,800)
(217)
(30,017)

(27,580)

(26,738)

-

-

Assets less Liabilities

(27,580)

(26,738)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(27,580)
(27,580)

(26,738)
(26,738)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11
12

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 7 to 33 were approved by the Governing Body on 22 May 2019 and signed on its behalf
by:

Andrew Bland
Accountable Officer
24 May 2019

Usman Niazi
Chief Financial Officer
24 May 2019
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2019
General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

(26,738)
(14)
(26,752)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(358,906)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

(358,906)
358,078
(27,580)

General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2018

(26,255)
(26,255)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating costs for the financial year

(342,338)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(342,338)
341,855
(26,738)

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2019
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
9
11
12

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

10

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 11 to 33 form part of this statement.
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2018-19
£'000

2017-18
£'000

(358,906)
103
(14)
432
187
58
(358,140)

(342,338)
65
0
334
117
167
(341,655)

0
0

(231)
(231)

(358,140)

(341,886)

358,078
358,078

341,856
341,856

(62)

(30)

144
82

174
144

NHS Bexley CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the
Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis despite the issue of a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 30 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue
to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual,
issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have
been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the
period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give
rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4

Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with London Borough of Bexley in accordance with section 75 of the
NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled for the Better Care Fund, Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Joint Equipment Stores.
Note 17 to the accounts provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pool for Better Care Fund, Learning Disabilities and Joint Equipment Store is hosted by London Borough of Bexley. The clinical commissioning
group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance
with the pooled budget agreement
The pool for Mental Health is hosted by NHS Bexley clinical commissioning group. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the
assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement

1.5

Revenue
The transition to IFRS 15 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard, applying the Standard retrospectively recognising
the cumulative effects at the date of initial application.
In the adoption of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.
The majority of the clinical commissioning group's income relates to recharges to the London Borough of Bexley for the following services:
• Mental health pooled fund contract with Oxleas NHS FoundationTrust
• Specialist childrens services contract with Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
• Section 117 mental health placements
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are recognised
as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, noncash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
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1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.
Some employees within the CCG's Integrated Commissioning team work across NHS Bexley CCG and London Borough of Bexley and are also
members of the Local Government Pension Scheme which is a defined benefit pension scheme and have a contract of employment with London
Borough of Bexley. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to those employees cannot be identified and are not recognised in the CCG accounts,
however they form part of the disclosure within the accounts of London Borough of Bexley.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or,
·
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as
separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and
bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the
reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at
the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
·
Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued
and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic
cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in
existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised
in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not
result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
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1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating expenses.

1.9

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current
assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of
the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held
under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its property, plant and equipment
assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial
impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to
the revaluation reserve.

1.10

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or
finance leases.

1.10.1

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk
of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral
part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable
that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of positive 0.29% (2017-18: positive 0.10%) in real terms. All
general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position
date:
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.76% (2017-18: negative 2.42% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows up to and including 5 years
from Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal medium-term rate of 1.14% (2017-18: negative 1.85% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 5 years up to and
including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows over 10 years and up to and
including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2017-18: negative 1.56% in real terms) for inflation adjusted expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from
the Statement of Financial Position date.
All 2018-19 percentages are expressed in nominal terms with 2017-18 being the last financial year that HM Treasury provided real general provision
discount rates.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with clinical commissioning group.
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1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.

1.15

Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
The Carbon Reduction Commitment scheme is a mandatory cap and trade scheme for non-transport CO2 emissions. The clinical commissioning
group is registered with the CRC scheme, and is therefore required to surrender to the Government an allowance for every tonne of CO2 it emits during
the financial year. A liability and related expense is recognised in respect of this obligation as CO2 emissions are made.
The carrying amount of the liability at the financial year end will therefore reflect the CO2 emissions that have been made during that financial year, less
the allowances (if any) surrendered voluntarily during the financial year in respect of that financial year.
The liability will be measured at the amount expected to be incurred in settling the obligation. This will be the cost of the number of allowances required
to settle the obligation.
Allowances acquired under the scheme are recognised as intangible assets.

1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset
has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·
Financial assets at amortised cost;
·
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After
initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.
Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance
representing the expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their
executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The
clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally
DHSC provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical commissioning group does not
recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as
the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's
original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.16.1

1.16.2

1.16.3

1.16.4

1.17

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.18

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.19

Foreign Currencies
The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is pounds sterling and amounts are presented in thousands of
pounds unless expressly stated otherwise. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.

1.20

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation.
By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of
payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have
been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.21

1.21.1

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements, estimates and
assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The clinical commissioning group has not made any critical judgements apart from those involving estimations, as detailed in note 1.21.2, in the
process of applying the clinical commissioning groups accounting policies, so there are no significant effects on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

1.21.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
● The largest estimated cost in the clinical commissioning group's accounts relates to the February and March 2019 prescribing accrual totalling £5.0m.
The prescribing accrual however is not deemed to have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

1.22

Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically
equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market
value.

1.23

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2018-19. These Standards are still subject to HM
Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2019-20, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM
Treasury consideration.
● IFRS 16 Leases – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption
is not therefore permitted.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
● IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
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Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2018-19
Total

2017-18
Total

£'000

£'000

90
4,317
1,558
1
5,966

4
4,179
4,183

-

2,493
2,493

5,966

6,676

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no
revenue from the sale of goods.
The NHS England mapping for 'Other' revenue in 2018/19 has been split out into contract and
non-contract.
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3. Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education,
training and
research

Non-patient
care services to
other bodies

Other Contract
income

Recoveries in
respect of
employee
benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

90
90

604
3,713
4,317

1,096
462
1,558

Education,
training and
research

Non-patient
care services to
other bodies

Other Contract
income

Recoveries in
respect of
employee
benefits

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

90
90

1
4,316
4,317

1
1

1,003
555
1,558

The timing of revenue is satisfied over time if the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the entity's performance as the entity performs.

17

1
1

NHS Bexley CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits
Permanent
Employees
£'000

2018-19

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,573
410
477
4
4,464

318
0
0
0
318

3,891
410
477
4
4,782

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits

(1)
4,463

0
318

(1)
4,781

Permanent
Employees
£'000

2017-18

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

3,309
311
416
2
4,038

768
0
0
0
768

4,077
311
416
2
4,806

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits

0
4,038

0
768

0
4,806

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2018-19
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(1)
(1)
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Other
£'000

Total
£'000
0
0

(1)
(1)
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

62

3

Total

2017-18
Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

65

65

9

74

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no exit packages in the financial year (2017-18: none).

4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that
cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health in England and Wales.
They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined
at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of
the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The
valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2019, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2018, updated to 31 March 2019 with summary
global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set
the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019. The Department of Health and Social Care have recently laid Scheme Regulations
confirming that the employer contribution rate will increase to 20.6% of pensionable pay from this date.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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5. Operating expenses
2018-19
Total
£'000
Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Clinical negligence
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2017-18
Total
£'000

2,129
118,037
128,883
46,967
31,342
29,355
61
697
162
1,033
1
706
54
72
6
33
359,538

2,702
112,427
123,939
40,379
32,724
28,775
335
346
299
1,214
3
336
52
50
2
92
343,675

103
103

65
65

58
58

167
167

330
6
(9)
64
391

257
6
38
301

360,090

344,208

The External Audit contract dated 4 January 2017, states that the liability of KPMG, its members, partners
and staff (whether in contract, negligence or otherwise) shall in no circumstances exceed £2 million, aside
from where the liability cannot be limited by law. This is in aggregate in respect of all services.
Audit fees - statutory audit services excluding VAT is £45k, amount shown £54k is inclusive of VAT (201718: £52k). There were no non-audit fees paid to the external auditors in 2018-19 (2017-18: £0k).
The CCG will be required to obtain assurance from the external auditors over reported compliance with the
requirements of the Mental Health Investment Standard. The CCG has received £10k of resource allocation
in relation to this work. The final fee is not yet confirmed.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

9,192
9,094
98.9%

81,342
80,569
99.0%

10,531
10,426
99.0%

78,334
76,876
98.1%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,050
2,990
98.0%

250,080
248,687
99.4%

3,180
3,129
98.4%

262,436
262,090
99.9%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay at least 95% of valid invoices by
the due date or within 30 days of receipt, whichever is later.
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
NHS Bexley clinical commissioning group has a signed 5 year lease agreement with the London Borough of Bexley for office space within
the London Borough of Bexley Civic Offices, which commenced in February 2017. The contract includes a break clause at 3 years,
therefore the future minimum lease payments is calculated to the end of the 3 years.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Buildings
£'000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

704
704

2
2

706
706

Buildings
£'000

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

374
374

27
27

401
401

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership's Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of
operating leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease
payments for these arrangements only.

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Buildings
£'000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
Total

2018-19
Total
£'000

Other
£'000

169
169

-

22

169
169

Buildings
£'000
179
507
686

2017-18
Total
£'000

Other
£'000
-

179
507
686
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Assets under
construction
and payments
on account
£'000
19

Information
technology
£'000
922

(19)
0

19
941

941

Depreciation 01 April 2018

-

547

547

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

-

103
650

103
650

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

0

291

291

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2019

0
0

291
291

291
291

0
0

291
291

291
291

2018-19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018
Reclassifications
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2019

Total
£'000
941

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2019

8.1 Additions to assets under construction
2018-19
£'000
Information technology
Total

2017-18
£'000
-

19
19

8.2 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
2018-19
2017-18
£'000
£'000
Information technology
402
402
Total
402
402

8.3 Economic lives

Information technology

Minimum Life
(years)
3

23

Maximum Life
(Years)
5
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9. Trade and other receivables

Current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

714
1,157
282
143
(4)
16
1
2,309

Current
2017-18
£'000
-

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

734
985
363
409
27
189
34
2,741

-

The majority of trade is with NHS organisations and the London Borough of Bexley. As NHS organisations and the London Borough of Bexley are ultimately funded by
the Government, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.
Concentration of credit risk is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and composed of unrelated or government bodies. Due to this, the Governing Body
believes that no future risk provision is necessary.

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
589
1
590

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2018-19
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
200
1
1
202

2017-18
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
186
116
302

Trade and other
receivables NHSE bodies
£000s

Trade and other
receivables external
£000s

2017-18
Non DHSC
Group Bodies
£'000
194
6
52
252

£439k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

9.2 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2018
Cash and cash
equivalents
£000s

Total

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

144
144

1,097
1,097

598
598

1,839
1,839

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

144
144

1,097
1,097

584
584

1,825
1,825

-

-

14
14

14
14

Changes due to change in measurement attribute
Change in carrying amount

9.3 Movement in loss allowances due to application of IFRS 9
Trade and other
receivables external
£000s
Impairment and provisions allowances under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Total at 31st March 2018

-

Loss allowance under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Assets measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

(14)
(14)

Change in loss allowance arising from application of IFRS 9

(14)
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10. Cash and cash equivalents
2018-19
£'000
144
(62)
82

2017-18
£'000
174
(30)
144

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

82
82

144
144

Balance at 31 March 2019

82

144

Balance at 01 April 2018
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2019

Current
2018-19
£'000

11. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

9,986
1,596
5,323
9,535
16
64
61
3,406
29,987

Current
2017-18
£'000
-

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

10,258
1,319
4,098
7,234
16
56
50
6,769
29,800

Other payables include £243,452 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: £295,380).
The other payables and accruals relate to accruals for GP Services such as local enhanced services, also non GP services such as winter
pressures, mental health and continuing care accruals.

11.1 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial liabilities at 1 April 2018
Trade and
other
payables NHSE bodies
£000s

Trade and
other
payables external
£000s

Total

£000s

Classification under IAS 39 as at 31st March 2018
Financial Assets held at Amortised cost
Total at 31st March 2018

11,576
11,576

18,101
18,101

29,677
29,677

Classification under IFRS 9 as at 1st April 2018
Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Total at 1st April 2018

11,576
11,576

18,101
18,101

29,677
29,677
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12. Provisions

Continuing care
Total

Current
2018-19
£'000
275
275

Non-current
2018-19
£'000
-

Current
2017-18
£'000
217
217

Non-current
2017-18
£'000

Continuing
Care
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2018

217

Arising during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2019

140
(82)
275

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Balance at 31 March 2019

275
275

The entire provision relates to retrospective continuing healthcare claims received outside of previous periods,
these are expected to be validated within 1 year, there are 12 claims included within this. The opening continuing
care balance comprised of 9 retrospective claims.

13. Contingencies

NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingencies at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: none).

14. Commitments
NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group had no capital or other financial commitments at 31 March 2019 (31
March 2018: none).
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15. Financial instruments
15.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial
risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of
listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
15.1.1 Currency risk
NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest rate risk
Clinical commissioning groups borrow from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The
borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed
for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
15.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the clinical
commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from
customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity risk

NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The
clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
15.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating
and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy nonfinancial items in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit,
liquidity or market risk.
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15. Financial instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2019

Total
2018-19
£'000

617
97
282
1
82
1,079

617
97
282
1
82
1,079

15.3 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2019

2,085
16,801
7,553
3,406
29,845

Total
2018-19
£'000
2,085
16,801
7,553
3,406
29,845

16. Operating segments
NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group has only one operating segment: Commissioning of healthcare
services.
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17. Joint arrangements

NHS Bexley CCG and London Borough of Bexley (LB Bexley) entered into an updated Section 75 agreement which has been
signed by both organisations. The purpose of this document was to act as an overarching agreement for a number of lead
commissioning arrangements as well as the pooled fund for the Better Care Fund and any S256 agreements which are entered
into. The Section 75 agreement is flexible in that additional agreements can be inserted into the document as separate schedules.
In previous years, LB Bexley has included details of the lead commissioning arrangements in its accounts and as part of the
renewing of the Section 75 agreement, NHS Bexley CCG will also be reflecting these arrangements in their accounts - please
see below.

Better Care Fund - Pooled Budget Arrangement
Final Out-turn for 2018/19
Contributions

£'000
Plan

£'000
Actual

Disabled Facilities Grant
Improved Better Care Fund
LB Bexley additional contribution
NHS Bexley CCG minimum contribution
NHS Bexley CCG additional contribution

2422
4693
524
14,850
1,286

2422
4693
524
14,850
1,286

Sub Total
Balance brought forward from last year
Total

23,775
0
23,775

23,775
1,381
25,156

Disabled Facilities Grant
Improved Better Care Fund
LB Bexley additional contribution
NHS Bexley CCG minimum contribution
NHS Bexley CCG additional contribution

2422
4693
524
14,850
1,286

2,422
4,597
524
14,878
1,286

Total

23,775

23,707

0
0
0

1,449
28
1,477

Expenditure

Contributions less expenditure
CCG overspend absorbed in 2018/19 accounts
Balance to be carried forward

£1,477k of iBCF ASC grant was not utilised in 2018/19 and this will be carried forward by LB Bexley for use in future years.

Mental Health - Lead Commissioner Arrangement
2018/19

2017/18

(2,768)
(8,951)

(2,661)
(8,430)

(11,719)

(11,091)

Adult MH Inpatient
Adult MH Community
UEA and CPC

3,716
7,467
320

3,781
6,995
902

Gross Expenditure

11,503

11,678

(216)

587

Surplus (-) / deficit (+) brought forward

0

0

Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) carried forward

0

0

Income
LBB contribution
BCCG contribution
Gross income
Expenditure

Surplus (-) / deficit (+)

The underspend on the MH pooled budget relates in the main to reduced bed occupancy and will be retained by Oxleas
as part of the overall block contract arrangement and may be used to offset overspends in other MH services.
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Learning Disabilities - Lead Commissioner Arrangement
Final Out-turn for 2018/19
2018/19

2017/18

Income (Contributions)
London Borough of Bexley
Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group
Other income

Actual
£'000
(20,100)
(867)
(2,552)

Actual
£'000
(19,618)
(867)
(2,096)

Sub-Total (Income)

(23,519)

(22,581)

Expenditure
Residential and Supported Living Services
Day Care Services
Community Services
Other Expenditure

18250
1904
2032
1333

16,794
1,829
2,069
2,037

Sub-Total (Expenditure)

23,519

22,729

Net Overspend for the year

0

148

Accumulated Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) brought forward

0

(148)

Accumulated Surplus (-) / Deficit (+)

0

0

2018/19
£'000

2017/18
£'000

(610)
(975)
(1,585)

(593)
(950)
0
(1,543)

Stock
Equipment service contract
Other expenditure

1,585
0

1,695
0

Sub-Total (Expenditure)

1,585

1,695

0

152

(242)

(394)

Surplus supporting Adult Social Care expenditure in 2018/19

190

0

Accumulated Surplus (-) / Deficit (+)

(52)

(242)

Integrated Community Equipment Store - Lead Commissioner Arrangement
Final Out-turn for 2018/19
Income (Contributions)
London Borough of Bexley Contribution
Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group Contribution
Other
Sub-Total (Income)
Expenditure

Net overspend / (underspend) for the year
Accumulated Surplus (-) / Deficit (+) brought forward

The surplus will be carried forward into 2019/20 by LB Bexley.

The other schedules which fall under the Section 75 agreement are the Integrated Care contract which NHS Bexley CCG are the
only contributor to and so are already shown wholly in the CCG's accounts, the Local Safeguarding Childrens Board and Early
Intervention contracts; these have not been disclosed previously in either organisations accounts and they are not material.
It should be noted that the Better Care Fund figures provided by LB Bexley have not yet been subjected to statutory audit.
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18. Related party transactions
The transactions listed below are in relation to interests declared by the Governing Body members (excluding transactions with
practices, department of health bodies and other government departments):
2018-19

Alzeimers Society
Bexley Health Ltd
Bexley Health Neighbourhood Care
Bexley Voluntary Services Council
Inspire Community Trust
Lister Group (includes Hurley Group)
Physiological Measurements Ltd

Amounts
Amounts due
Payments to Receipts from
owed to
from Related
Related Party Related Party Related Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
50
0
0
0
337
(90)
0
(8)
1,302
(108)
220
(14)
17
0
0
0
33
0
0
0
3,255
(46)
836
(15)
497
0
37
0
2017-18

Alzeimers Society
Bexley Health Ltd
Bexley Health Neighbourhood Care
Hurley Group
Inspire Community Trust
Physiological Measurements Ltd

Amounts
Amounts due
Payments to Receipts from
owed to
from Related
Related Party Related Party Related Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
50
0
0
0
433
(122)
0
0
757
(31)
18
0
2,193
(28)
1,482
0
24
0
0
0
382
0
0
0

These transactions relate to business as usual trading activities. There are no provisions for doubtful debts.
The transactions listed below are in relation to those practices where one of the GPs of that practice is or has been a member of NHS
Bexley CCG's Governing Body during the financial year:
2018-19

Albion surgery
Belvedere medical practice
Cairngall surgery
Londonwide LMC
Lyndhurst surgery
Plas Meddyg surgery
Sidcup medical centre
Westwood surgery

Amounts
Amounts due
Payments to Receipts from
owed to
from Related
Related Party Related Party Related Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
3,500
(1)
290
0
2,617
0
221
0
2,029
0
145
0
159
0
0
0
2,431
0
230
(2)
1,819
0
166
0
3,512
0
395
0
2,028
0
177
0
2017-18

Albion surgery
Barnard medical practice
Belvedere medical practice
Bellegrove surgery
Cairngall surgery
Lyndhurst surgery
Sidcup medical centre
Slade Green surgery
Westwood surgery

Amounts
Amounts due
Payments to Receipts from
owed to
from Related
Related Party Related Party Related Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
3,133
(1)
291
0
3,130
(1)
312
0
1,964
0
168
0
2,999
0
312
0
2,030
0
248
0
2,120
(1)
217
0
2,753
0
418
0
1,908
0
165
0
1,868
0
183
0

These transactions relate to business as usual trading activities. There are no provisions for doubtful debts.
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The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year 2018-19 (and 2017-18), NHS Bexley CCG has had a significant
number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as being the parent department, for example:
- Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust
- Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust
- Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust
- Guys & St Thomas's NHS Foundation Trust
- Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
- London Ambulance Service NHS Trust

NHS Bexley CCG has also had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and
local government bodies in 2018-19. Most of these transactions have been with the London Borough of Bexley.
A financial Risk-Share agreement is in place across the six CCGs in south east London. It was agreed through the governance of each
CCG that the Risk-Share agreement be enacted in 2018-19. The final revenue resource limit values included in the 2018-19 annual
accounts of each CCG reflect the outcome of the Risk-Share agreement.
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19. Events after the end of the reporting period
Following the implementation of a shared management structure with NHS Greenwich CCG, with effect from 01/04/2019, there will be
recharge arrangements in place between the two organisations for this team. Also, as part of these revised arrangements, there will be a
change in the Director of Finance, with the current Director of Finance for NHS Greenwich and Lewisham CCGs taking on responsibility for
NHS Bexley as well to provide consistency.

20. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2018-19
Performance
Variance
£'000
£'000

Target
£'000
Expenditure not to exceed income

Target Met
£'000

354,932

364,872

(9,940)

No

-

-

-

Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

348,966

358,906

(9,940)

No

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

N/A

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

N/A

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

5,340

4,131

1,209

Yes

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

2017-18
Performance
Variance
£'000
£'000

Target
£'000
Expenditure not to exceed income

Target Met
£'000

343,007

349,245

(6,238)

No

231

231

-

Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

336,100

342,338

(6,238)

No

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

N/A

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

N/A

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

5,327

4,160

1,167

Yes

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

21. Effect of application of IFRS 15 on current year closing balances
The impact of IFRS 15 is immaterial to the accounts of NHS Bexley Clinical Commissioning Group.
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